
 
Rother District Council 
 

 

NOTE: Representations on any items on the Agenda must be received in 
writing by 9:00am on the Monday preceding the meeting. 

This agenda can be made available in large print, Braille, 
audiotape/CD or in another language upon request.  

For all enquiries – please contact lisa.cooper@rother.gov.uk 
Tel: 01424 787813 

Rother District Council putting residents at the heart of everything we do. 

 
Planning Committee 
 
Date and Time 

 
- 

 
Thursday 18 April 2024 

  9:30am – 1:00pm and 2:00pm until close of business 
 (At the discretion of the Chair, the timing of lunch may be varied) 
 
Venue - Council Chamber, Town Hall, Bexhill-on-Sea 
 
 
Councillors appointed to the Committee: 
B.J. Drayson (Chair), J. Stanger (Vice-Chair), Mrs M.L. Barnes, C.A. Bayliss, 
T.J.C. Byrne, F.H. Chowdhury, Mrs V. Cook, C.A. Creaser, A.E. Ganly, N. Gordon, 
P.J. Gray, T.O. Grohne, T.M. Killeen (MBE) and C. Pearce. 
 
Substitute Members: Councillors J. Barnes (MBE), S.J. Coleman, K.M. Field, A. 
Rathbone Ariel and H.L. Timpe. 
 
 

AGENDA 
  
1.   MINUTES   
 To authorise the Chair to sign the minutes of the meeting of the Planning 

Committee held on 14 March 2024 as a correct record of the proceedings. 
  

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTES   
 The Chair to ask if any Member present is substituting for another Member 

and, if so, to declare their name as substitute Member and the name of the 
absent Member. 

  
3.   ADDITIONAL AGENDA ITEMS   
 To consider such other items as the Chair decides are urgent and due notice 

of which has been given to the Head of Paid Service by 12 noon on the day 
preceding the meeting. 

  
4.   WITHDRAWN APPLICATIONS   
 The Director – Place and Climate Change to advise Members of those 

planning applications on the agenda which have been withdrawn. 
 
 
  

Public Document Pack

mailto:lisa.cooper@rother.gov.uk


NOTE: Representations on any items on the Agenda must be received in writing by 
9:00am on the Monday preceding the meeting. 

 
Enquiries – please ask for Lisa Cooper (Tel: 01424 787813) 

For details of the Council, its elected representatives and meetings, visit the Rother District 
Council website www.rother.gov.uk 

5.   DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS   
 To receive any disclosures by Members of disclosable pecuniary interests / 

other registerable interests / non-registerable interests in matters on the 
agenda and the nature of any interest and details of any dispensations 
obtained.  Members are reminded of the need to repeat their declaration 
immediately prior to the commencement of the item in question. 

  
6.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS - INDEX  (Pages 3 - 4) 
 
7.   RR/2023/627/P - 16 HEIGHTON CLOSE, BEXHILL  (Pages 5 - 22) 
 
8.   RR/2021/3010/P - MOORHURST CARE HOME, MAIN ROAD, WESTFIELD  

(Pages 23 - 68) 
 
9.   RR/2023/2630/P - WINCHELSEA BEACH CARAVAN PARK, PETT LEVEL 

ROAD, ICKLESHAM  (Pages 69 - 76) 
 
10.   RR/2024/402/L - TOWN HALL, LONDON ROAD, BEXHILL  (Pages 77 - 86) 
 
11.   TO NOTE THE DATE AND TIME FOR FUTURE SITE INSPECTIONS   
 Tuesday 28 May 2024 at 9:30am departing from the Town Hall, Bexhill. 

 
 
 
Lorna Ford 
Chief Executive 

Agenda Despatch Date: 10 April 2024 
 
 



pl240418 – Planning Applications - Index 

Rother District Council                                                                      
 
Report to - Planning Committee 
 
Date - 18 April 2024 
 
Report of the - Director - Place and Climate Change 
 
Subject - Planning Applications – Index 
 
 
Director:  Ben Hook 
 
 
Planning Committee Procedures 
 
Background Papers 
These are planning applications, forms and plans as presented in the agenda,  
pertinent correspondence between the applicant, agents, consultees and other 
representatives in respect of the application, previous planning applications and 
correspondence where relevant, reports to Committee, decision notices and appeal 
decisions which are specifically referred to in the reports.  Planning applications can 
be viewed on the planning website http://www.rother.gov.uk/planning  
 
Planning Committee Reports 
If you are viewing the electronic copy of the Planning Applications report to Planning 
Committee then you can access individual reported applications by clicking on the link 
(View application/correspondence) at the end of each report. 
 
Consultations 
Relevant statutory and non-statutory consultation replies that have been received after 
the report has been printed and before the Committee meeting will normally be 
reported orally in a summary form. 
 
Late Representations 
Unless representations relate to an item which is still subject to further consultation 
(and appears on the agenda as a matter to be delegated subject to the expiry of the 
consultation period) any further representations in respect of planning applications on 
the Planning Committee agenda must be received by the Director - Place and Climate 
Change in writing by 9am on the Monday before the meeting at the latest. Any 
representation received after this time cannot be considered. 
 
Delegated Applications 
In certain circumstances the Planning Committee will indicate that it is only prepared   
to grant/refuse planning permission if/unless certain amendments to a proposal are 
undertaken or the application is subject to the completion of outstanding or further 
consultations.  In these circumstances the Director - Place and Climate Change can 
be delegated the authority to issue the decision of the Planning Committee once the 
requirements of the Committee have been satisfactorily complied with.  A delegated 
decision does not mean that planning permission or refusal will automatically be 
issued.  If there are consultation objections, difficulties, or negotiations which cannot 
be satisfactorily concluded, then the application will be reported back to the Planning 
Committee.  This delegation also allows the Director - Place and Climate Change to 
negotiate and amend applications, conditions, reasons for refusal and notes 
commensurate with the instructions of the Committee. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6

http://www.rother.gov.uk/planning
http://www.planning.rother.gov.uk/WAM/pas/findCaseFile.do?appNumber=rr????????


pl240418 – Planning Applications - Index 

Applications requiring the applicant entering into an obligation under section 106 of 
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) are also delegated.   
 
Order of Presentation 
The report on planning applications is presented in the following order as shown 
below: 
  

Agenda 
Item Reference Parish Site Address Page 

No. 

7 RR/2023/627/P BEXHILL 
16 Heighton Close 
Bexhill 
TN39 3UP 

5 

8 RR/2021/3010/P WESTFIELD 

Moorhurst 
Main Road 
Westfield 
TN35 4SL 

23 

9 RR/2023/2630/P ICKLESHAM 

Winchelsea Beach 
Caravan Park 
Pett Level Road 
Winchelsea Beach 
Icklesham 
TN36 4NG 

69 

10 RR/2023/402/L BEXHILL 

Town Hall 
London Road 
Bexhill 
TN39 3JX 

77 

 

Page 4

https://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2023/627/P&from=planningSearch
https://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2021/3010/P
https://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2023/2630/P
https://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2024/402/L&from=planningSearch


pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

 

SITE PLAN 
 
RR/2023/627/P 

BEXHILL 
 

16 Heighton Close 
Bexhill 

 
  
 
 
 

      

 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

Rother District Council         
 
Report to   -  Planning Committee 
Date    - 18 April 2024 

Report of the  -  Director – Place and Climate Change 
Subject - Application RR/2023/627/P 
Address - 16 Heighton Close, 
  BEXHILL, TN39 3UP 
Proposal - Erection of new two storey chalet bungalow with access 

onto Collington Lane West and erection of extension to the 
existing dwelling. 

View application/correspondence  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  It be RESOLVED to GRANT (FULL PLANNING) 
 
 
Director: Ben Hook 
 
 
Applicant:   Ms Farnham  
Agent: HOUSE – Design & Architecture 
Case Officer: Mr Ruben Hayward 
                                                                     (Email: ruben.hayward@rother.gov.uk) 
 
Ward: BEXHILL KEWHURST 
Ward Members: Councillors B.J. Drayson and A.P Hayward  
 
Reason for Committee consideration:  Member call in – impact on highway 
safety and character of Collington Lane West. 
 
Statutory 8-week date: 16 June 2023 
Extension of time agreed to: 25 April 2024 
 
 
This application is included in the Committee site inspection list. 
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY  
 
1.1 The application consists of an extension to the existing dwelling, 16 Heighton 

Close, and the erection of a detached dwelling within the rear garden of No. 
16, with access on to Collington Lane West. The proposed extension is 
considered to have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance 
of the area and the amenities of neighbouring properties. The proposed new 
dwelling would contribute to the housing stock within the district in light of the 
Council’s shortfall of a 5-year housing land supply. The proposed dwelling 
would be situated in a sustainable location, and is considered to accord with 
planning policy, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions. 

 
Page 6

https://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2023/627/P&from=planningSearch
mailto:ruben.hayward@rother.gov.uk


pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

2.0 SITE 
 
2.1 16 Heighton Close is a detached dwelling situated within a comparatively 

large plot at the western end of the cul-de-sac. The existing rear garden 
extends to approximately 30m in length in a northerly direction (from the side 
elevation) and backs on to Collington Lane West. Public footpaths connecting 
Collington Lane West with Heighton Close and Carmel Close run down either 
side of the plot. 

 
2.2 Collington Lane West (the Lane) is an unclassified road measuring over 1 km 

in length, bypassing Birkdale between Little Common and Collington. The 
Lane predominantly features detached dwellings along most of the road 
frontage including developments which are not accessed directly from the 
Lane. The Lane is semi-rural in nature due to the lack of footpaths along most 
of its length and the interspersing of mature trees and hedgerows towards the 
western half. 

 
 
3.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 The first part of the proposal seeks to construct a first-floor extension to the 

existing dwelling, projecting from the rear elevation towards the east atop an 
existing ground floor rear projection. The extension would create an additional 
bedroom and en-suite bathroom at first floor level. This extension would be 
constructed from materials that would match the existing dwelling. 

 
3.2 The second part of the proposal seeks to construct a detached chalet-

bungalow dwelling in the northern part of the site. The dwelling would be a 
chalet-bungalow style featuring four bedrooms, two of which are within the 
roof with dormers to the front and rooflights to the rear. 

 
3.3 The materials to be used in the construction of the dwelling have been listed 

as facing brickwork, cladding and concrete tiles.  
 
3.4 During the application process, amendments have been received in order to 

reduce the scale of the front dormers and removing dormers at the rear to be 
replaced by several rooflights. In addition to this, a preliminary ecological 
appraisal and further landscaping details have been submitted for 
consideration. 

 
3.5 The application also seeks to create an access on to Collington Lane West to 

serve the proposed dwelling. A hard standing area to the front of the dwelling 
would allow for the parking and turning of two vehicles to serve the new 
dwelling. 

 
3.6 SCHEME DETAILS 

 
Dwelling details 

Dwellings Number Percentage 
Market 1 100% 
Affordable   
Self-build   
Total 1  

 
Page 7



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

Tenure Details / Property Size 
Type Tenure 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+ bed Total 
     1  1 

Total     1  1 
 

Access and Space Standards 
Standard Compliant Non-compliant % Compliant 
Internal Space X  100% 
Access M4(2) X  100% 
External Space  X 90% 

 
Use Classes Floorspace (sqm) 

Use Class Lost Gained Total 
C3 0 182 182 

 
 

 
 
4.0 HISTORY 
 
 16 Heighton Close 
 
4.1 RR/78/1690/BR Extension to form dining room – BUILDING REGS 

APPROVED 
 
4.2 RR/76/2038 Erection of 26 dwellings with garage and nine garages for 

existing flats – APPROVED CONDITIONAL 
 
 Other local applications 
 
4.3 39 Collington Lane West – to the east of this site 
 
4.3.1 RR/94/1992/P Renewal of outline planning permission B/73/0710 for 

erection of 3-bedroom dwelling and garage in relation to a 
new unit in the rear garden – APPROVED CONDITIONAL 

 
4.3.2 RR/91/2035/P Outline: Renewal of permission for erection of 3-bedroom 

dwelling and garage – APPROVED CONDITIONAL 
 
4.4 Lake House – to the west of this site 
 
4.4.1 RR/94/1185/P Erection of three chalet bungalows with garages pursuant 

to outline permission RR/92/0567/P – APPROVED 
CONDITIONAL 

 
4.4.2 RR/92/0567/P Outline – Erection of seven dwellings with garages served 

by new private road – APPROVED CONDITIONAL 
 
 
5.0 POLICIES 
 
5.1 The following policies of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 are 

relevant to the proposal: 

Page 8

http://www.rother.gov.uk/CoreStrategy


pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

• PC1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
• OSS1: Overall Spatial Development Strategy 
• OSS2: Use of Development Boundaries 
• OSS3: Location of development 
• OSS4: General Development Considerations 
• CO6: Community Safety 
• LHN1: Achieving Mixed and Balanced Communities 
• EN3: Design Quality 
• EN5: Biodiversity and Green Space 
• EN7: Flood Risk and Development 
• TR3: Access and New Development 
• TR4: Car Parking 

 
5.2 The following policies of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan 

(DaSA) are relevant to the proposal: 
• DRM1: Water Efficiency 
• DHG3: Residential Internal Space Standards 
• DHG4: Accessible and Adaptable Homes 
• DHG7: External Residential Areas 
• DHG9: Extensions, Alterations and Outbuildings 
• DHG11: Boundary Treatments 
• DHG12: Accesses and Drives 
• DEN1: Maintaining Landscape Character 
• DEN4: Biodiversity and Green Space 
• DEN5: Sustainable Drainage 
• DIM2: Development Boundaries 

 
5.3 The National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance are 

also material considerations.  
 
 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1 Planning Notice 
 
6.1.1 48 letters of objection for the application have been received. Their comments 

are summarised as follows: 
• Access on to the narrowest part of the lane is dangerous. 
• Dwelling would overlook neighbouring garden. 
• Front elevation of the dwelling out of character. 
• Disruption caused during construction. 
• Overdevelopment of the site.  
• Extends beyond the building line. 
• Wildflower verge should be retained. 
• Flank westerly elevation would be harmful. 
• Previous conditions prevented access on to the lane. 
• Rear garden is a haven for wildlife. 
• More vehicles would be parked on the road. 
• Insufficient distance from properties opposite. 
• Grass bank is used as a pedestrian refuge. 
• Would disrupt the unspoilt nature of the lane. 
• Sets a precedent for other properties to open access on the lane. 

Page 9

http://www.rother.gov.uk/dasa


pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

6.2 Bexhill-on-Sea Town Council – NO RESPONSE 
 
6.3 RDC Waste & Recycling – NO OBJECTION 
 
6.3.1 “There are no issues here, bins will be presented at the curtilage on Collington 

Lane West.” 
 
6.4 East Sussex County Council (ESCC) Highways – NO OBJECTION  
 
6.4.1 “I therefore do not wish to object to this application subject to the imposition 

of the following conditions:” 
 
6.5 Pevensey & Cuckmere WLMB 
 
6.5.1 “Unfortunately, the Lead Local Flood Authority is unable to respond to minor 

applications at this time unless the Planning Officer deems there to be a 
significant flood risk arising from this proposal. If this is the case, please set 
out your concerns and we will endeavour to provide a response within the 
deadline set.” 

 
6.6 County Ecologist 
 
6.6.1 Initial response – 22 September 2023: 
 
 “Recommend for refusal due to insufficient information. Insufficient 

information has been provided to assess the potential impacts on biodiversity 
and to inform appropriate mitigation, compensation and enhancement. 
Further advice will be provided upon receipt of additional information.” 

 
6.6.2 Re-consultation – 4 March 2024: 
 
 “Recommended for approval in principle subject to the imposition of 

conditions. Whilst the application documentation has not met best practice 
standards and/or the requirements of the NERC Act and National Planning 
Policy Framework, it is possible that the risk is capable of being mitigated to 
acceptable levels by the application of planning conditions which are outlined 
in this response.” 

__________________________________________________________________ 
 
7.0 LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS 
 
7.1 The application with regard to the new dwelling is for a type of development 

that is Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) liable. The total amount of CIL 
money to be received is subject to change, including a possible exemption, 
but the development could generate approximately £12,607. 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
8.0 APPRAISAL 
 
 The main issues to be considered are: 

• Principle of the dwelling 
• Impact on the character and appearance of the dwelling and locality 
• Impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties 
• Living conditions of future occupiers 

Page 10



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

• Highway safety 
• Ecological impacts 

 
8.1 Principle of development 
 
8.1.1 At present, the Council is only able to demonstrate 3.09 years of housing land 

supply, below the required threshold of five years. In this scenario, paragraph 
11d of the National Planning Policy Framework is triggered which requires 
that a presumption in favour of sustainable development should be applied 
and permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

 
8.1.2 The location of the proposal is within the development boundary for Bexhill 

where there is a presumption in favour of development subject to other policy 
considerations. In addition, the site in all respects can be considered a 
sustainable location. Collington railway station is within 20 minutes walking 
distance, whilst Little Common village is a similar distance with a variety of 
amenities including convenience shopping, GP surgery and school. Little 
Common village can be accessed via the footpath by Lakelands Drive on to 
Birkdale and would not require walking along the highway. 

 
8.1.3 Paragraph 7.60 within the subtexts of the DaSA states that - Within 

development boundaries there is a presumption that infilling, redevelopment 
and changes of use will be acceptable subject to other policies of the plan. 

 
8.1.4 Policy LHN1 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy - In order to support 

mixed, balanced and sustainable communities, housing developments 
should: (iii) In Bexhill, contribute to increased provision of family dwellings, 
unless site circumstances make this inappropriate. The proposed dwelling 
would be a 4-bedroom family dwelling and would therefore contribute to the 
desired housing provision within Bexhill.  

 
8.1.5 The principle of the erection of a dwelling in this location is therefore accepted, 

subject to other considerations which will be assessed below. 
 
8.2 Impact on the character and appearance of the dwelling and locality 
 
 Proposed dwelling 
 
8.2.1 Collington Lane West lies within a development boundary and can be 

considered an urban location, exemplified by the number of dwellings that 
front the Lane along most of its length. A semi-rural character as alluded to 
within objections is appreciated to some extent, due to a lack of footpaths and 
stretches without residential development. 

 
8.2.2 Between Lake House Close and the junction with Birkdale to the east, the 

Lane is continuously developed along both frontages, the application site lying 
within this stretch. The section of the lane between Lake House Close towards 
Drayton Rise in the west is much more rural in character with a lower density 
of dwellings along this section and more trees and developed hedgerows 
along the highway.  

 
8.2.3 References within objections have been made to a condition imposed on a 

permission granted in the 1990s, relating to the development at Lake House 

Page 11



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

Close. Condition 2 of RR/94/1185/P states - No vehicle or pedestrian access 
shall be permitted directly onto Collington Lane West.  This relates to Nos. 1, 
2 and 3 Lake House Close which are accessed within the cul-de-sac. Further 
accesses here would have eroded the semi-rural qualities of the road towards 
the west but are not considered comparable to the stretch of road upon which 
this application relates, where there are already several established accesses 
on to the Lane. 

 
8.2.4 It is therefore considered that the positioning of a dwelling and new access in 

the location proposed would not significantly harm the semi-rural character of 
the Lane because it is situated at a position where the density of built 
frontages is higher. It would therefore be considered to maintain and reinforce 
the built landscape character of the area in accordance with DaSA Policy 
DEN1. 

 
8.2.5 The proposed form and scale of the dwelling is considered to be in keeping 

with dwellings immediately east of the site, such as Nos. 41 (Clifftops) and 43 
(Hill Brow) Collington Lane West (to the east side of the plot). The chalet 
bungalow would have a low overall height that would not appear significantly 
intrusive or out of place within the locality and would be in keeping with the 
built character of the area. Due to the sloping topography of the site, the 
dwelling would be marginally lower in height than No. 43. 

 
8.2.6 Whilst the proposed materiality of the dwelling may differ through the use of 

cladding, this would not significantly detract from the character and 
appearance of the area, given the mixture of dwellings and designs along the 
Lane. Notwithstanding this, a condition would be imposed to specify further 
details of materials.  

 
8.2.7 The overall design of the proposed dwelling is considered an appropriate 

modern interpretation of a chalet bungalow with glazed porch and would 
provide an amenable appearance from the street-scene. Amendments 
brought forward to reduce the scale of the dormers at the front would ensure 
that the dwelling does not appear top heavy and unbalanced. The proposal is 
therefore considered to contribute positively to the character of the site and 
surroundings, in accordance with Policy EN3 of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy. 

 
8.2.8 In relation to its impact on the setting of 16 Heighton Close, given the distance 

from the side elevation of the host dwelling and its proposed position fronting 
the Lane, the dwelling would more closely relate to the pattern of development 
along the Lane and would not be considered to significantly detract from the 
existing character of No. 16. 

 
8.2.9 Landscaping details have been submitted including detailed plans, mixed 

native species, planting plans and schedules and an implementation plan. 
These details are considered sufficient to ensure an appropriate scheme of 
landscaping is achieved having regard to the character and appearance of 
the locality. An indicative elevation of the boundary treatment to the rear has 
also been submitted, proposing a 1.8m closeboard fence. At the frontage of 
the dwelling, traditional post and rail fencing is proposed which is reflective of 
the boundary treatment used at 41 Collington Lane West and provides a semi-
rural edge to the frontage. 

 

Page 12



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

 Proposed extension 
 
8.2.10 The proposed extension would be situated above the existing ground floor 

rear extension of No. 16. The extension would utilise similar materials and 
vernacular design found within the dwelling, responding positively to the 
appearance and arguably forming an improvement on the flat roofed 
extension it would supersede. Although the extension would not be technically 
subservient in height due to the corresponding ridge heights, in all other 
respects the extension would be subservient in terms of its size and mass. 
Due to its position on the rear elevation, facing east, the extension is unlikely 
to have a material impact in the context of street-scene views. As a result of 
these considerations, the proposed extension is considered to accord with 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy Policy EN3 and DaSA Policy DHG9. 

 
8.3 Impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties 
 
8.3.1 Rother Local Plan Core Strategy Policy OSS4 and DaSA Policy DHG9 

collectively seek to ensure that development would not unreasonably harm 
the amenities of adjoining properties in terms of loss of light, massing or 
overlooking. 

 
8.3.2 The proposed extension is not considered to generate any significant 

negative impacts on any neighbouring properties, due to its siting above an 
existing extension, positioning of windows and consolidation of built form. 
Indeed, arguably the removal of a rear facing bedroom window to a side facing 
window would improve privacy within the nearby rear garden of 43 Collington 
Road West. 

 
 Proposed dwelling impacts 
 
8.3.3 16 Heighton Close is a two-storey detached dwelling that is the subject of this 

application. The proposal would result in the plot effectively being split in half 
with the new dwelling lying to the north of No.16. Given the distance that 
would be between the two properties and the relationship of the proposed rear 
to existing side elevations, the new dwelling is unlikely to be a significantly 
overbearing presence on this property. Due to the array of rooflights proposed 
at the rear of the new dwelling (rather than initially proposed dormers), which 
could be obscure glazed, there is unlikely to be any harmful overlooking into 
the newly defined boundaries of No. 16. 

 
8.3.4 15 Heighton Close is a link-detached chalet bungalow located south-west of 

the dwelling site. The proposed dwelling would introduce massing that would 
be obvious from the dwelling, however given the chalet-bungalow style of the 
new dwelling and the lower level outshot proposed on the west side, this level 
of massing is not considered to be detrimental to amenities. The proposed 
front dormers, particularly the western most dormer, may be able to afford 
some oblique views into the very northern part of the rear garden, but these 
are not considered detrimental. In any case, No. 15 has a large side dormer 
which could afford views into both No.16 and the new dwelling’s garden and 
any new overlooking would not be over or above this. 

 
8.3.5 Hillbrow, 43 Collington Lane West is a detached chalet bungalow located 

immediately east of the dwelling site. Overlooking would not be possible into 
the private amenity areas of the dwelling. Significant massing impacts are 

Page 13



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

also unlikely due to the lower topography of the proposal site. Some loss of 
light may be experienced to the western most room of No. 43, specifically to 
the north facing window on the recessed portion, however this room would 
still receive a plentiful amount of light from its southern windows, and therefore 
amenity here cannot be considered to be detrimentally impacted. 

 
8.3.6 64 and 66 Collington Lane West are a pair of semi-detached cottage style 

dwellings, positioned closer to the frontage than other dwellings along this 
stretch of the Lane and opposite the plot. Concerns have been raised by 
neighbours that the position of the new dwelling would be overbearing on 
these properties and would impact amenities. The proposed dwelling would 
be situated between 16-20m from the frontage of the cottages and separated 
by the road. This separation would be enough to ensure that impacts of 
overlooking are not detrimental to these properties, which are already 
overlooked from the highway. 

 
8.3.7 In summary, the proposed developments are not considered to have a 

detrimental impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties and would 
accord with Rother Local Plan Core Strategy Policy OSS4 and DaSA Policy 
DHG9. 

 
8.4 Living conditions of future occupiers 
 
8.4.1 Policy DHG7 of the DaSA states - Appropriate and proportionate levels of 

private usable external space will be expected. For dwellings, private rear 
garden spaces of at least 10m in length will normally be required.  

 
8.4.2 The plans submitted would indicate rear/side gardens for both properties that 

measure just over 9m in depth. No. 16 would have a good amenity space to 
its side compensating for a narrower space to its rear. Paragraph 4.71 of the 
DaSA states that - In a limited number of cases, a rear garden of slightly less 
than 10m in depth may be accepted where either an appropriate and 
proportionate level of private amenity space is provided to the side or front of 
the dwelling or there are particular reasons why the future occupiers of the 
dwelling(s) will have a lesser requirement for amenity space. In such cases, 
the overall layout of the site and separation distances between dwellings must 
be acceptable and not result in a cramped form of development. 

 
8.4.3 It is therefore considered that a shortfall of 1m in garden depth could be 

acceptable, because the width of the plot would still allow for appropriate and 
useable amenity areas for both dwellings. 

 
8.4.4 DaSA Policy DHG3 requires that all new dwellings comply with the 

Government’s national space standards. The proposed dwelling would be 
broadly compliant with these standards, although it should be noted that only 
one area of built in storage would be provided but additional storage space 
could be available.  

 
8.4.5 DaSA Policy DHG4 requires that all dwellings meet M4(2) Building 

Regulations standards for accessible and adaptable homes. There is 
insufficient information at planning stage to determine compliance and 
therefore a condition should be attached to ensure this standard is met. 

  

Page 14



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

8.4.6 Based on the above considerations, the proposed dwelling would result in 
acceptable living conditions for future occupiers. 

 
8.5 Highway safety 
 
8.5.1 ESCC Highways have been consulted on the proposed dwelling development 

for detailed comments regarding the access and other highway related 
issues. Their comments are incorporated into the sections below.  

 
8.5.2 Visibility splays of 2.4 x 43m would be required in this particular context. The 

Highways officer was satisfied during a site visit that these splays would be 
achievable, subject to the removal of the boundary fence (which would be a 
formality should the development be approved). It is therefore considered that 
vehicles exiting the driveway would be able to access the carriageway safely. 

 
8.5.3 Significant objections have been raised with regard to the suitability of the 

access due to the width of the Lane and the lack of pedestrian footpaths on 
the carriageway. 

 
8.5.4 Particular concerns were raised by objectors around pedestrian users using 

the public footpaths either side of the plot and onwards towards Lakelands 
Drive. The proposed dwelling would require the removal of the fencing 
fronting the lane, and some fencing either side by the footpaths which in 
practice would provide an element of intervisibility for pedestrians across the 
Lane before they reach the junction with the highway. 

 
8.5.5 It is considered that the intensification in use of Collington Lane West by one 

dwelling would be negligible in a capacity sense regardless and would not 
significantly harm safety of other road users. 

 
8.5.6 The width of the Lane was found by ESCC Highways officers to be 4.5m wide 

at the access point which is sufficient for two vehicles to pass each other. The 
width of the Lane varies but is wider towards the west and narrower to the 
east, narrowing to 4.2m between Nos. 41 and 60. 

 
8.5.7 The access is considered acceptable in terms of highway impacts, based on 

the current context, similar accesses nearby and the frequency of vehicular 
movements that may be generated by one additional dwelling. In some 
respects, it is considered pedestrian safety for those using the public 
footpaths may be improved due to the potential open frontage of the dwelling. 

 
8.5.8 ESCC Highways have suggested the imposition of conditions to ensure the 

following: 
• That the development shall not be occupied prior to the access being 

constructed. 
• That the access is not used until visibility splays are provided. 
• The development shall not be occupied until a parking area is approved 

in consultation with the Highway Authority. 
• The parking spaces measure at least 2.5m x 5m. 
• The development shall not be occupied until a cycle parking area is 

approved in consultation with the Highway Authority. 
 
 
 

Page 15



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

8.6 Ecological Impacts 
 
8.6.1 During the application process, neighbours raised concerns that badgers may 

have been present on the site. Given these concerns and the highly vegetated 
state of the garden, it was considered reasonable to request that a preliminary 
ecological appraisal (PEA) was undertaken. 

 
8.6.2 Prior to the PEA being undertaken, it was noted that the vegetated garden 

was heavily cleared with a number of shrubs and greenery being removed. 
This was brought to the attention of the County Ecologist and was taken into 
account in their consultation response. 

 
8.6.3 The PEA found that the existing building was unlikely to support bat roosts. 

Although badgers were not found during the survey, the survey did find 
evidence of animal burrows. 

 
8.6.4 The County Ecologist initially raised an objection on the basis of the 

biodiversity net-loss that would arise from the development when compared 
to the pre-clearance baseline of the site and that opportunities for ecological 
enhancement within the site had not been fully explored. 

 
8.6.5 Shortly after this objection was raised, further evidence of badger activity was 

discovered on the site. As a result, the Applicant’s ecologist made a follow-up 
visit to the site and observed for any signs of badger activity. The follow up 
report recommended that the sett would need to be closed under licence in 
advance of development taking place. 

 
8.6.6 An amended landscaping plan was also submitted in order to attempt to 

deliver measureable biodiversity net-gain on the site. The proposal includes 
the following elements: 
• Grasscrete parking area with low growing wildflowers. 
• Native hedgerow planted on boundaries, including species rich 

hedgerow between 16 Heighton Close and new dwelling. 
• Climbing plants on eastern edge of the site. 

 
8.6.7 Upon receipt of this information, the County Ecologist was reconsulted for 

additional comments. The submitted information was found to overcome the 
previous objection in relation to badgers and biodiversity net-gain, subject to 
conditions being imposed for compliance with existing plans, a biodiversity 
method statement and ecological design strategy. 

 
8.7 Arboricultural impacts 
 
8.7.1 An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted with the application. 

Four individual trees and two groups of trees are proposed to be removed to 
accommodate the proposals. None of these trees are considered exceptional 
in terms of their appearance and would not be prominent from public views.  

  
8.7.2 The report recommends that two tree protection barriers and one area of 

temporary ground protection are provided during the construction period of 
the proposals. A condition would be attached to any permission to ensure 
these works are implemented. 

 
 

Page 16



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

8.8 Other matters 
 
8.8.1 The proposed dwelling would provide two parking spaces for vehicles, which 

would accord with ESCC requirements for residential development. An 
additional space would be preferable to reduce overspilling on to the lane but 
is unlikely to be accommodated within the front garden area. 

 
8.8.2 Enclosed storage for bicycles is mentioned within the Planning Statement but 

further details would be required at condition stage, as recommended by 
ESCC Highways.   

 
8.8.3 Policy DEN5 of the DaSA requires that developments within the Pevensey 

Levels Hydrological Catchment Area, should incorporate at least two stages 
of suitable treatment for SuDS, unless demonstrably inappropriate. As there 
was no significant flood risk arising from this proposal, Pevensey & Cuckmere 
WLMB did not comment on the application, although part of the site lies within 
the catchment area. As a result, it is considered necessary to impose a 
condition requiring a detailed foul and surface water drainage plan. 

 
8.8.4 Some concerns have been raised within objections that the construction 

period of the dwelling could cause disruption to residents and users of 
Collington Lane West. Given that this road is fairly narrow at the proposed 
access and that large vehicles would need to access the site, it is considered 
reasonable to require a Construction Management Plan prior to 
commencement on site to ensure that construction traffic is managed 
effectively.  This can be conditioned should planning permission be granted. 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
9.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The proposed extension to 16 Heighton Close is considered acceptable in 

terms of impacts on the character and appearance of the locality and in terms 
of impacts on the amenities of neighbouring properties. 

 
9.2 The Council currently only demonstrates 3.09 years of housing land supply. 

In accordance with paragraph 11d of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
the development plan is considered out-of-date and therefore permission 
should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

 
9.3 The proposal would provide an additional dwelling to the housing supply, a 

small but notable contribution and contributes to the provision of family 
dwellings within Bexhill. The proposed dwelling would not significantly detract 
from the character and appearance of the locality, would not cause 
unreasonable impacts on the amenities of neighbouring properties and would 
be acceptable in terms of future living conditions, highway safety and 
ecological impacts subject to conditions. On balance, the shortfall in useable 
garden space provided is considered to be outweighed by the positive 
benefits of the proposal and the application is therefore recommended for 
approval. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT (FULL PLANNING)  
 

Page 17



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

CONDITIONS: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.  
Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004). 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans and documents: 
Proposed Floor Plans, Elevations & Block Plan (extension) – 22.456/02, dated 
December 2022 
Proposed Floor Plans, Elevations & Site Block Plan (new dwelling) – 
22.456/03B, revised June 2023 
Proposed Street Scene – 22.456/04B, revised June 2023 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal – dated August 2023 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Addendum 1 – dated October 2023 
Hard & Soft Landscaping Plan – 22.456/05A, revised February 2024 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

extension hereby permitted shall be as described within the application, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure that the development reflects the character and appearance 
of the existing building(s) and to preserve the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy OSS4 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
Policy DHG9 (ii) of the Rother Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
4. At the time of construction and prior to the first occupation or use of the new 

dwelling hereby approved, the rooflight windows at first floor level within the 
rear elevations, as indicated on the approved Drawing No. 22.456/03B, revised 
June 2023, shall be glazed with obscure glass of obscurity level equivalent to 
scale 5 on the Pilkington Glass Scale and shall thereafter be retained in that 
condition.  
Reason: To avoid overlooking and preserve surrounding residential amenity in 
accordance with Policy OSS4 (ii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
Policy DHG9 (i) of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
5. No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site 

clearance and destructive enhancement/restoration measures) until a method 
statement for invasive plants (where their spread could be caused), reptiles and 
badgers has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The content of the method statement shall include the:  
a)  purpose and objectives for the proposed works;  
b)  detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated 

objectives (including, where relevant, type and source of materials to be 
used);  

c)  extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale maps 
and plans;  

d)  timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with 
the proposed phasing of construction;  

e)  persons responsible for implementing the works;  
f)  initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant); and  
g)  disposal of any wastes arising from the works.  

Page 18



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be retained in that manner thereafter. All ecological measures and/or 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained in the 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Addendum 1 (Mayhew Consultancy Ltd, 
October 2023) and Hard and Soft Landscaping Plan (House Design and 
Architecture, October 2023 RevA, Ref: 22.456/05A) as already submitted with 
the planning application and agreed in principle with the Local Planning 
Authority prior to determination. 
Reason: To protect habitats and species identified in the ecological surveys 
from adverse impacts during construction and to avoid an offence under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017, as amended and in accordance with Policy EN5 of 
the rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policy DEN4 of the Development and 
Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
6. No development shall take place until an ecological design strategy (EDS) 

providing planting details of the green wall and grasscrete and specification for 
hedgehog holes and bird and bat bricks/boxes has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The content of the EDS 
shall include the following:  
a)  purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works;  
b)  review of site potential and constraints;  
c)  detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives;  
d)  extent and location /area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps 

and plans;  
e)  type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native 

species of local provenance;  
f)  timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with 

the proposed phasing of development;  
g)  persons responsible for implementing the works;  
h)  details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance;  
i)  details for monitoring and remedial measures; and  
j)  details for disposal of any wastes arising from works.  
The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and all 
features shall be retained in that manner thereafter. All ecological measures 
and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained in the 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Addendum 1 (Mayhew Consultancy Ltd, 
October 2023) and Hard and Soft Landscaping Plan (House Design and 
Architecture, October 2023 RevA, Ref: 22.456/05A) as already submitted with 
the planning application and agreed in principle with the Local Planning 
Authority prior to determination. 
Reason: To ensure that any adverse environmental impacts of development 
activities can be mitigated, compensated and restored and that the proposed 
design, specification and implementation can demonstrate this, and to provide 
a net gain for biodiversity as required by Section 40 of the Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities Act 2006, paragraphs 180 and 186 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy EN5 of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy and Policy DEN4 of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
7. No development shall take place, including any ground works or works of 

demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the approved 
Plan shall be implemented and adhered to in full throughout the entire 

Page 19



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

construction period.  The Plan shall provide details as appropriate but not be 
restricted to the following matters: 
a) the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during 

construction; 
b) the method of access and egress and routeing of vehicles during 

construction; 
c) the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors;  
d) the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste; and  
e) the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development,  
Reason:  These details are required prior to commencement of any works to 
ensure highway safety and to protect the amenities of adjoining residents during 
construction in accordance with Policy OSS4 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy.  

 
8. No development shall take place, until full details of the proposed foul and 

surface water drainage system, which should incorporate at least two stages of 
suitable treatment, to prevent off-site flooding as a result of the development 
and preclude harmful impacts on the Pevensey Levels Hydrological Catchment 
Area, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and the new dwelling shall not be occupied until drainage works to 
serve the development have been provided in accordance with the approved 
plans and details.  
Reason: Drainage details are integral to the development to ensure the 
satisfactory drainage of the site to prevent water pollution or off-site flooding 
and to ensure the appropriate management of surface water on and adjacent 
to the highway, in accordance with Policy EN7 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan 
Core Strategy and Policy DEN5 of the Development and Site Allocations Local 
Plan. 

 
9. No development above ground level shall take place until details of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the dwelling 
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  
Reason: To ensure that the development reflects the character and/or 
appearance of the locality and to preserve the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy OSS4 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
Policy DHG9 (ii) of the Rother Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
10. The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be occupied until it has been 

constructed in accordance with Part M4(2) (accessible and adaptable 
dwellings) of Schedule 1 of the Building Regulations 2010 (as amended) for 
access to and use of buildings. 
Reason: To ensure that an acceptable standard of access is provided to the 
dwelling in accordance with Policy OSS4 (i) of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy and Policy DHG4 of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
11. The dwelling hereby approved shall meet the requirement of no more than 110 

litres/person/day water efficiency set out in Part 3 of Schedule 1 of the Building 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) for water usage. The dwelling hereby 
permitted shall not be occupied until evidence has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the 
dwelling has been constructed to achieve water consumption of no more than 
110 litres per person per day.  

Page 20



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

Reason: To ensure that the development is built to acceptable water efficiency 
standards in line with sustainability objectives and in accordance with Policy 
SRM2(v) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policy DRM1 of the 
Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
12. The development shall not be occupied until the vehicular access serving the 

development has been constructed in accordance with the approved plans.  
Reason: To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the 
access and proceeding along the highway in accordance with Policy TR3 of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
13. The access shall not be used until visibility splays of 2.4m by 43m are provided 

in both directions and maintained thereafter.  
Reason: To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the 
access and proceeding along the highway in accordance with Policy TR3 of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
14. The development shall not be occupied until the parking area has been 

provided in accordance with the approved plans which have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Highway Authority and the area shall thereafter be retained for that use and 
shall not be used other than for the parking of motor vehicles.  
Reason: To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the 
access and proceeding along the highway in accordance with Policy TR4 of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
15. The proposed parking spaces shall measure at least 2.5m by 5m (add an extra 

50cm where spaces abut walls).  
Reason: To provide adequate space for the parking of vehicles and to ensure 
the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the access and 
proceeding along the highway in accordance with Policy TR4 of the Rother 
Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
16. The development shall not be occupied until a cycle parking area has been 

provided in accordance with the approved plans which have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Highway Authority and the area shall thereafter be retained for that use and 
shall not be used other than for the parking of cycles.  
Reason: In order that the development site is accessible by non-car modes and 
to meet the objectives of sustainable development in accordance with Policy 
TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
17. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

tree protection measures inscribed within the recommendations of section 11 
of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment – AR/123122, dated December 2022 
and the protective fencing so erected prior to any construction on site and shall 
remain in situ for the period of construction.  
Reason: To ensure that the development would have regard to the protection 
of trees, and thereby maintain the landscape character of the locality in 
accordance with Policy EN1 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policy 
DEN1 of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 
 

 
 

Page 21



pl240418 - RR/2023/627/P 

NOTES: 
 
1. The Applicant will be required to enter into a Section 184 Licence with East 

Sussex Highways, for the provision of a new vehicular access. The Applicant is 
requested to contact East Sussex Highways (0345 60 80 193) to commence 
this process. The Applicant is advised that it is an offence to undertake any 
works within the highway prior to the licence being in place. 

 
2. The Applicant is advised that it is their responsibility to notify their Building 

Control Body (Local Authority or Approved Inspector) that conditions triggering 
the optional technical standards for Water Efficiency are attached to this 
planning permission and that development should be built accordingly. 
Enforcement action may be taken without further notice if the relevant 
standards are not achieved. 
 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK: In accordance with the 
requirements of the Framework (paragraph 38) and with the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local 
Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application 
by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and 
negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the proposal to address 
those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Page 22



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

 

SITE PLAN 

 

RR/2021/3010/P 

WESTFIELD 
Moorhurst 

Main Road 
Westfield 

  
   
     

 

 
  

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

Rother District Council       
 
Report to   -  Planning Committee 
Date    - 18 April 2024  

Report of the  -  Director – Place and Climate Change 
Subject - Application RR/2021/3010/P 
Address - Moorhurst, Main Road,  
  WESTFIELD 
Proposal - Construction of a 64-bed care home (Use Class C2) over 

two storeys to include landscaping, access, and car 
parking. 

View application/correspondence 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  It be RESOLVED to GRANT (PLANNING PERMISSION) 
DELEGATED SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AND THE COMPLETION OF A 
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT TO SECURE: 
• PROVISION OF OFF-SITE HIGHWAY WORKS AS REQUIRED BY EAST 

SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY 
• FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS AS REQUIRED BY EAST SUSSEX COUNTY 

COUNCIL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY 
 
 
Director: Ben Hook 
 
 
Applicant:   Frontier Estates (Ten) Limited 
Agent: Mission Town Planning 
Case Officer: Mr E. Corke 

                                                                     (Email:  edwin.corke@rother.gov.uk) 
Parish: WESTFIELD 
Ward Members: Councillors B.J. Coupar and C.R. Maynard   
  
Reason for Committee consideration: Councillor call in – Local interest, issues 
of local infrastructure i.e. capacity within doctor’s surgery, issues regarding 
traffic and pedestrian safety, and consideration of the principle of the 
proposals within the context of the adopted Local Plan.  
 
Statutory 13-week date: 25 April 2022  
Extension of time agreed to: 21 September 2023   
 
 
This application is included in the Committee site inspection list. 
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY 
  
1.1 The application relates to a site allocated for housing with care (Use Class 

C3) under Policy WES2 of the Development and Site Allocations (DaSA), 

Page 24

http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2021/3010/P
mailto:edwin.corke@rother.gov.uk


pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

referencing that proposals would be permitted where ‘Some 40 dwellings 
are provided, of which 40% are affordable’. 

 
1.2 The proposal is for 64-bed care home (Use Class C2), which is not “housing 

with care” and would not provide any affordable housing. As such, the 
proposed development would not comply with the Council’s development 
plan (i.e. it would conflict with Policy WES2 of the DaSA) and would 
undermine the provision of Westfield’s identified housing need. However, in 
this case, the Applicant has demonstrated that there are material 
considerations to justify the determination of the application other than in 
accordance with the development plan.   

 
1.3 The provision of 64 care bedspaces would make a timely and meaningful 

contribution to the district’s C2 registered care bedspace need in the 
immediate future. Moreover, it would deliver the equivalent of some 36 
homes for older people, which would make a meaningful contribution to the 
Council’s housing land supply and accord with the Government’s objective 
of “significantly boosting” the supply of homes. In addition to this, and in 
relation to matters such as accessibility, impact on the character and 
appearance of the area, impact on biodiversity, highway and transport 
impacts etc. the use of conditions and a planning obligation would make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. 

 
1.4 There would be a loss of money raised through the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and no New Homes Bonus. With regard to the loss 
of CIL money, this is somewhat counterbalanced by the additional CIL liable 
on other development sites in the district where the percentage of affordable 
housing has been reduced on viability grounds (where a higher proportion of 
market housing is achieved, a consequence is that the Local Planning 
Authority gains more CIL).   

 
1.5 On this occasion other considerations indicate the decision should be taken 

otherwise than in accordance with the development plan and therefore it is 
recommended that planning permission is granted. 

 
 
2.0 SITE 
 
2.1 The application relates to a brownfield site owned by East Sussex County 

Council (ESCC), which is allocated for housing with care (Use Class C3) 
under Policy WES2 of the DaSA. The full policy requirements are as follows: 

  
 “Land at the former Moorhurst Care Home, as shown on the Policies Map, is 

allocated for housing with care. Proposals will be permitted where: 
(i) some 40 dwelling units are provided, of which 40% are affordable; 
(ii) access is provided to the A28, with preference to utilising the 

previously established access; 
(iii) screen tree planting is provided on the north-eastern boundary of the 

site, and trees and vegetation on other boundaries are retained and 
enhanced, with new native species landscape planting provided to fill in 
gaps; 

(iv) communal gardens/ amenity open space is provided on site to a 
minimum of 25 sqm per dwelling unit; and 

(v) provision is made for: 

Page 25



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

(a) an upgraded footway along the A28 connecting to the village core, 
together with safe means of accessing it from the site; 

(b) pedestrian access to footpath 27 on the south-western boundary 
of the site; and 

(c) a bus stop adjacent to the site.” 
 
2.2 The site lies to the north-east of the village, on the north-western side of the 

A28 (Main Road). It is located within the development boundary for 
Westfield – as defined in the DaSA – and the High Weald National 
Landscape (HWNL, also designated an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
[AONB]). Most of the site lies within the green impact risk zone for Great 
Crested Newts; the northern corner lies within the amber impact risk zone. 
The western corner of the site is situated within an Archaeological 
Notification Area.  

 
2.3 The site measures some 0.88 hectares and is generally level throughout. It 

is generally well screened from the surrounding countryside by virtue of both 
topography and mature boundary trees. A public footpath (Westfield 27) 
runs the length of its south-western boundary. Access to the site is from 
Main Road to the south-east. 

 
2.4 Immediately to the north-east of the site is a residential property 

(Cornerways) and a playing field. To the south-east is Main Road. To the 
south-west of the site is the public footpath, beyond which there are two 
residential properties (Furtherdown and Tudor Close Cottage) and some 
scrubland. There is also an area of scrubland and part of the rear garden of 
a residential property (Marden Ash) adjoining the rear, north-west boundary.  

 
2.5 The site previously contained a detached two storey building dating from the 

Victorian era, which was last in use as a residential care home. In 2007 
outline planning permission (Application Ref: RR/2552/CC) was granted for 
demolition of the care home and the erection of a new 48-bed residential 
care unit with day therapy suite, outreach and consulting rooms. Approval of 
reserved matters (Application Ref: RR/2862/CC) was subsequently granted 
in 2009. That permission was not implemented, the site was subsequently 
cleared of buildings and has since remained vacant for many years.  

 
 
3.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 Full planning permission is sought for the construction of a 64-bed care 

home (Use Class C2) arranged over two storeys to include landscaping, 
access, and car parking. The care home would provide accommodation for 
the elderly and would also provide dementia care.   

 
3.2 The care home would be located centrally within the site and arranged 

around a courtyard garden. External materials comprise a mix of brickwork 
and vertical timber/timber effect cladding to the elevations and clay tiles to 
the roof slopes of the deck roof (i.e. a pitched roof with a flat roof top). Circa 
250sqm of solar PV panels are proposed to be fitted to part of the flat roof 
top.   

 

Page 26



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

3.3 Internally the care home would provide 31 single en-suite bedrooms on the 
ground floor and 33 single en-suite bedrooms on the first floor. A range of 
ancillary facilities would also be provided, including, but not limited to: 
• Lounges. 
• Quiet lounges. 
• Dining rooms. 
• Café. 
• Hairdresser room. 
• Library. 
• Activity room. 
• Care stations.  

 
3.4 A new vehicular access is proposed from Main Road, together with a 

pedestrian crossing. Car and cycle parking spaces and a deliveries/service 
area would be provided at the front of the site with the remaining areas of 
land around the care home provided as communal garden for the residents.  

 
3.5 31 car parking spaces are proposed, three of which would be allocated for 

disabled badge holders and four of which would be provided access to 
electric car charge points. A minibus bay is also proposed. In relation to 
cycle parking, 24 spaces are proposed.  

 
3.6 In addition to the application form and accompanying plans/drawings, a suite 

of reports and assessments have been submitted with the planning 
application and these are available to view on the planning website. 

 
3.7 The application has been amended since it was first publicised with changes 

made to the internal and external layouts, position of the care home within 
the site, location of the vehicular access and the external materials palette of 
the building.  

 
3.8 Prior to the submission of this application, the Applicant submitted a pre-

application enquiry for the provision of a circa 70-bed care home on the site. 
Several concerns were raised in the pre-app response, including:  
• Whether there is a need for a care home of the size proposed in this 

location, particularly as there is an existing 32-bed care home, 
Whitegates, located just to the south of the village. 

• Whether the existing village services are sufficiently resourced and 
have capacity to provide care for such an increase in the population of 
older residents. 

• Whether the scale and mass of the building would be in keeping with 
the village and its setting and conserve the character and appearance 
of the HWNL. 

• Whether the proposal would have an acceptable highways impact and 
an acceptable impact on neighbouring residential amenity.    

 
3.9 The summary of the pre-app response to the Applicant says: 
 
 “The erection of a care home on the site is unacceptable in principle, as it 

would undermine the delivery of much needed housing for the village of 
Westfield and the district as a whole… 

 
 

Page 27



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

4.0 RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
4.1 EU/RR/88/2170 Use of hotel as residential care home – GRANTED.  
 
4.2 RR/2002/373/P Outline: Erection of a two storey 16-bed residential unit 

for wheelchair bound adults with learning difficulties – 
GRANTED. 

 
4.3 RR/2005/1158/P Outline: Renewal of RR/2002/373/P for the erection of a 

two storey 16-bed residential unit for wheelchair bound 
adults with learning difficulties – GRANTED.  

 
4.4 RR/2552/CC Outline application for demolition of existing building and 

erection of 48-bed residential care unit with day therapy 
suite, outreach and consulting rooms – GRANTED. 

 
4.5 RR/2007/272/C Outline: Demolition of existing building and erection of 48-

bed residential care unit with day therapy suite, outreach 
and consulting rooms – NO OBJECTION. 

 
4.6 RR/2862/CC Application for reserved matters relating to the layout, 

scale and external appearance of the building(s), access 
and landscaping, following outline approval for the 
erection of 48-bed residential care unit with day therapy 
suite, outreach and consulting rooms (RR/2552/CC) – 
GRANTED.  

 
4.7 RR/2009/2687/C Application for reserved matters relating to the layout, 

scale and external appearance of the building(s), access 
and landscaping, following outline approval for the 
erection of 48-bed residential care unit with day therapy 
suite, outreach and consulting rooms (RR/2252/CC) – NO 
OBJECTION.   

 
 
5.0 POLICIES 
 
5.1 The following policies of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 are 

relevant to the proposal:  
• PC1 (Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development) 
• OSS1 (Overall Spatial Development Strategy) 
• OSS2 (Use of Development Boundaries) 
• OSS3 (Location of Development) 
• OSS4 (General Development Considerations) 
• RA1 (Villages) 
• SRM1 (part (i) is superseded) (Towards a Low Carbon Future) 
• SRM2 (Water Supply and Wastewater Management) 
• CO1 (Community Facilities and Services) 
• CO5 (Supporting Older People) 
• CO6 (Community Safety) 
• LHN1 (Achieving Mixed and Balanced Communities) 
• EN1 (Landscape Stewardship) 
• EN2 (Stewardship of the Historic Built Environment) 

Page 28

http://www.rother.gov.uk/CoreStrategy


pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

• EN3 (Design Quality) 
• EN4 (Management of the Public Realm) 
• EN5 (Biodiversity and Green Space) 
• EN7 (Flood Risk and Development) 
• TR2 (Integrated Transport) 
• TR3 (Access and New Development) 
• TR4 (Car Parking) 

 
5.2 The following policies of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan 

2019 are relevant to the proposal:  
• DRM3 (Energy Requirements) 
• DHG1 (Affordable Housing) 
• DHG5 (Specialist Housing for Older People) 
• DEN1 (Maintaining Landscape Character) 
• DEN2 (The High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty) 
• DEN4 (Biodiversity and Green Space) 
• DEN5 (Sustainable Drainage) 
• DEN7 (Environmental Pollution) 
• DIM2 (Development Boundaries) 
• OVE1 (Housing supply and delivery pending plans) 
• WES2 (Land at the former Moorhurst Care Home, Westfield) 

 
5.3 The following Council document is also considered relevant to the proposal: 

• Housing and Economic Development Need Assessment 2020.  
 
5.4 The National Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and 

adopted High Weald AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 are also material 
considerations. 

 
 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1 National Highways – NO OBJECTION 
 
6.2 East Sussex County Council (ESCC) Highway Authority – NO OBJECTION  
 
6.2.1 Subject to the imposition of conditions, bus stop improvements and a 

financial contribution to improve bus service.  
 
6.3 Environment Agency – NO OBJECTION  
 
6.3.1 Subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
6.4 Southern Water – NO OBJECTION   
 
6.4.1 Subject to the imposition of conditions.  
 
6.5 Lead Local Flood Authority – NO OBJECTION 
 
6.5.1 Subject to the imposition of conditions.  
 
6.6 ESCC Ecologist – NO OBJECTION  
 

Page 29

http://www.rother.gov.uk/dasa


pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

6.6.1 Subject to the imposition of conditions.  
 
6.7 ESCC Archaeologist – NO OBJECTION 
 
6.7.1 Subject to the imposition of conditions.  
 
6.8 ESCC Landscape Officer – NO OBJECTION 
 
6.8.1 Subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
6.9 ESCC Adult Social Care – NO COMMENTS RECEIVED 
 
6.10 East Sussex Fire & Rescue Service – NO COMMENTS RECEIVED  
 
6.11 Sussex Police – NO OBJECTION 
 
6.11.1 General observations provided on design and layout, reducing crime, 

improving natural surveillance and improving safety. 
 
6.12 Sussex Newt Officer (NatureSpace) – NO OBJECTION 
 
6.13 Clinical Commission Group – NO COMMENTS RECEIVED  
 
6.14 High Weald AONB Unit – OBJECTION 
 
6.14.1 It is considered that the proposal is an overdevelopment of the site which 

has repercussions for the amount of space left for biodiversity. The 
Biodiversity Net Gain calculation submitted with the proposal is not 
transparent and makes unrealistic assumptions about the quality of the 
created habitats. As a result, the proposal is likely to result in a loss of 
biodiversity on the site contrary to DASA policy DEN4 and High Weald 
AONB Management Plan objective S3 and fails to conserve and enhance 
the AONB. 

 
6.14.2 In the event that the Local Planning Authority considers that the 

development is acceptable in principle, it is recommended that a number of 
detailed requirements are met.  

 
6.15 Rother District Council (RDC) Environmental Health – NO OBJECTION 
 
6.15.1 Subject to the imposition of conditions.  
 
6.16 RDC Waste and Recycling – GENERAL COMMENT    
 
6.16.1 We do provide waste services to care/residential homes that are subject to 

domestic council tax but not to those paying non domestic rates. 
 
6.16.2 If we are to provide a waste service then access looks suitable however 

Biffa will have to undertake a site visit near completion to check the access 
to the bin store/dropped kerbs etc. 

 
6.17. Planning Notice 
 

Page 30



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

6.17.1 17 letters of OBJECTION including multiple letters from the local GP 
surgery raising the following concerns (summarised): 
• This is a village, not a town. 
• Increased pollution and disturbance/disruption in the village.  
• Increase in traffic.  
• There is already a care home and elderly people’s home in the village. 

Second care home not required.   
• Local surgery not consulted on the application. 
• Local GP surgery service is already working beyond its capacity and 

stretched to breaking point. It would not be able to provide safe and 
effective care to the residents of the proposed care home.   

• Proposal would seriously destabilise the already fragile Primary Care 
Service for all local residents, along with the local District Nursing 
Service. 

• Patients in Nursing Homes are normally heavy users of Primary Care 
Services and the local GP surgery may have to close their list to new 
patients should this application for a 64 bedded nursing home be 
approved, to ensure that they are able to operate a safe service to their 
current patients in the long term. 

• Local GP surgery is a small branch surgery in a small village of 
Westfield and will not survive with a 64-bed Nursing home on the other 
side of the road. 

• The planning agent’s statement that there is compelling evidence that 
the proposal will not have any impact on local GP services is manifestly 
incorrect. This project will have a significant impact on the local GP 
Surgery and its patients. Nursing home residents take up a significant 
amount of GP resources and this project will severely hamper our 
current patients obtaining medical services from this practice that they 
need. 

• Developments have gone ahead with little or no consideration to the 
infrastructure of the village or the impact they have on the GP Surgery, 
the Primary School or the current residents’ essential needs. 

• No one has given any thought to the infrastructure that would be 
necessary to support this new nursing home. 

• Harm to wildlife.  
• The proposed care home is too big. If the home was a third of the size 

then the doctors surgery may well be able to cope. 
• Speed reduction measures on Main Road and a pedestrian crossing 

are required so that residents can access village services and facilities. 
• Perhaps the care company could fund a full-time doctor for the lifetime 

of the facility.  
• Dangerous site access. 
• Dangerous road to cross.  
• The pavement is on the other side of the road and isn't fit for purpose 

and dangerous to walk along as it's covered with building debris and 
single file with no passing points. 

• The bus routes are very inconsistent and unreliable. Also, there is not a 
direct route to a chain Supermarket. 

• The train station mentioned is a rural station where not every train 
stops- and it's not a safe walk to the station. 

• Inappropriate location for the proposed development.  
 

Page 31



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

6.17.2 One letter of SUPPORT from the operators of Whitegates in Westfield who 
will operate the proposed care home if granted planning permission. Their 
comments are summarised as follows: 
• Scheme will offer excellent accommodation and much needed care 

beds in excess of Care Quality Commission Standards. 
• The development will offer significant further employment opportunities 

which will be of benefit to Westfield as a whole. 
• The careful design approach and landscaped area will be of benefit to 

both residents but also to the wider community. 
• The development will be taking place within the village boundary in 

place of a previous care home that operated from the site.  
• The new care home will allow for further downsizing releasing family 

housing to allow new families to move into the area.  
• Care homes of the quality proposed can reduce the impact on local 

facilities by having nursing and care on site.   
  
6.18 Westfield Parish Council – OBJECTION  
 
6.18.1 The Parish Council have submitted four objections to the proposal. Their 

concerns are summarised as follows:  
• Contrary to Policy WES2: Land at the former Moorhurst Care Home, 

Westfield of the DaSA. Will not provide the much-needed housing 
stock for our older residents in the form of sheltered accommodation. 

• Contrary to Policy DEN1: Maintaining Landscape Character of the 
DaSA. The scale and design of the property is not in keeping/in 
character with the local area or local context. 

• Contrary to Policy DEN2: The High Weald AONB of the DaSA. The 
sheer size and design of the development does not meet the needs in 
this policy for "Development within the High Weald AONB should be 
small-scale, in keeping with the landscape and settlement pattern." 

• Dangerous vehicular access onto the public highway.  
• The travel plan seems unrealistic for this location. 30 car parking 

spaces which is supposed to accommodate staff, residents and visitors 
seems very lacking. This is a 64-bed care/nursing home which will 
almost entirely be made up of residents outside of the Parish so many 
will visit by car. 

• Question whether the site is accessible by bicycle, by foot, by bus and 
by train.     

• The care home will put unreasonable pressure onto the local GP 
surgery. It is clear there is not the infrastructure to have such a 
development within the Parish, which is a material consideration.  

• Not clear whether Highway Authority’s request for new bus stops on 
the A28 is possible.  

• The current footpath on the A28 is not safe.  
• A suitable crossing such as a pelican crossing or some form of traffic 

calming to slow speeding traffic is needed in order for residents of the 
care home to safely cross the road.   

• Supports the ESCC Ecologist’s recommendation to refuse the 
application due to lack of information. 

• Supports the High Weald Units’ objection to the proposal on a number 
of grounds. 

• When viewing the available care homes within a five miles radius from 
the site of Moorhurst there were 40 care homes found on the 

Page 32



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

caresourcer.com website plus another 37 in the Bexhill area and 
several more in the rural areas around Westfield. This is far more than 
the identified care homes outlined in the Frontier Estates Policy Review 
document in Appendix 3 as for some reason the provision in Hastings 
has been missed out. Many Care Homes are geographically closer to 
Westfield than Bexhill and several of the rural care home providers 
seem to have been missed out on the map. 

• No evidence has been supplied outlining the need for Westfield Parish 
to have a 64 private care home. What is needed is more housing 
including affordable options for people over 60 allowing them to move 
out of family homes. Any affordable provision would allow people 
requiring 1-bedroom properties to come off of the housing register and 
free up family properties. 

• None of the reasons given in the ‘Conclusion’ Frontier Estates Policy 
Review document are sound planning reasons to allow this site to be 
developed. 

• In Paragraph 19.11 of the planning need assessment, it states the 
planning appeal APP/R0660/A/12/2188195 but the proposed care 
home in Westfield is a totally different development and situation than 
the one discussed in the appeal. The court case is also not relevant in 
this case as it is not the financial concerns of the Council being 
questioned but the impact on local infrastructure and should be 
considered as a material planning reason. 

• Highway’s objection has only been removed IF there can be provision 
of two new bus stops, yet these sites have not been identified. 
Therefore, if planning permission was approved no development 
should start until the bus stops have been identified with the provision 
of bus shelters to be paid for by the Applicant. 

• The footway along the A28 is narrow and dangerous and if any 
planning was given this should be improved between Mill Lane all the 
way into the village to ensure safety of anyone using this footpath 
which is currently dangerous and unsafe to use and does not allow two 
people to safely pass let alone anyone on a wheelchair or with a 
pushchair. 

 
 
7.0 LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS 
  
7.1 The delivery of a care home instead of housing on the site would result in 

the loss of money raised through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 
There would also be no New Homes Bonus.  

 
7.2 ESCC Highway Authority have advised that a financial contribution of 

£35,200 is required towards an improved bus service 29. This would be 
secured by a Section 106 Agreement. 

 
 
8.0 APPRAISAL 
 
8.1 The application relates to a site allocated for housing with care (Use Class 

C3) under Policy WES2 of the DaSA. The main issues include: 
• Principle of a care home (Use Class C2) development on this allocated 

housing site.  

Page 33



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

• Whether the proposed development would be in an accessible location, 
giving a genuine choice for travel modes other than the private car.     

• Impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area, 
having particular regard to the High Weald National Landscape 
(HWNL).   

• Highway and transport impacts.  
 
8.2 Principle of a care home development 
 
8.2.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

the planning application to be determined in accordance with the Council’s 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 
8.2.2 The application site is allocated for housing with care (Use Class C3) under 

Policy WES2 of the DaSA and requires that some 40 dwelling units are 
provided, of which 40% are affordable.  

 
8.2.3 By way of background, the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy identifies a 

need for at least 5,700 dwellings to be provided in the district over the period 
from April 2011 to March 2028. In order to meet housing needs and ensure 
the continued vitality of Westfield, the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy large 
site requirement for the village is 89 dwellings. This is spread over three 
sites and includes the application site with its specific allocation for “housing 
with care”, which is referred to in Paragraph 11.229 of the DaSA as 
“retirement living/sheltered housing”. This allocation responds to the housing 
need identified in the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy evidence base (as 
updated by the DaSA). Paragraph 11.226 of the DaSA says: 

  
 “An allocation for housing with care has the support of the landowner and 

would provide opportunities for local older persons to downsize, thus freeing 
up housing for families. There is a recognised need to provide more housing 
suitable for older people in the district, in response to demographic 
projections.” 

   
8.2.4 The proposal is for 64-bed care home (Use Class C2), which is not “housing 

with care” (Use Class C3) and would not provide any affordable housing. As 
such, the proposed development would not comply with the Council’s 
development plan (i.e. it would conflict with Policy WES2 of the DaSA). The 
Applicant has, however, sought to demonstrate that there are material 
considerations to indicate (i.e. justify) the determination of the application 
other than in accordance with the development plan. The Applicant’s 
reasons for justifying a grant of planning permission are summarised as 
follows: 
• The Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply (it was 

3.09 years as at 1 April 2023). The absence of a 5-year supply is highly 
material in its own right, but it also means that the tilted balance as set 
out in paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the National Planning Policy Framework is 
engaged, i.e. permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts 
of doing so significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. As 
set out within the Planning Statement, the provision of care home beds 
counts towards the Council’s housing land supply.  

• A care home previously existed on the site and planning permission for 
a replacement care home was granted, although not implemented. The 

Page 34



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

current proposal for a care home would accord with the last use of the 
site. 

• It is not clear how the site became allocated for “housing with care” 
(Use Class C3), when it was not promoted as such. The site was 
originally promoted through the emerging Local Plan process for a 
wider range of uses including use as a care home and, despite having 
been asked to do so, neither ESCC (the owner of the Site) nor the 
Council itself has been able to explain why the use of the site as a care 
home was excluded in favour of the ultimate allocation for housing with 
care.     

• The site has been extensively marketed and there has been no interest 
from developers to bring forward the site in accordance with the WES2 
allocation. This is backed by comments from two market leading 
sheltered housing developers (Churchill Retirement Living and 
McCarthy and Stone) who say the site is not suitable for them or their 
product.   

• There are no site allocations for the provision of care homes within the 
district. Moreover, from a search of the Council’s records there have 
been no implemented consents for Care Homes in the last six years 
within a 7-mile radius of the site. This consideration along with the time 
taken to construct and deliver the beds could mean that no further care 
beds are delivered until 2026. Potentially meaning no care beds are 
delivered in the district for a 10-year period. 

• The Applicant’s Planning Need Assessment report prepared by 
Carterwood – April 2022, shows a need for this type and form of 
accommodation both now and even further demand in the future. Table 
T4 sets out: 
- Our assessment based on 2025, the earliest the proposed care 

home could be available, indicates a shortfall of 93 and 21 market 
standard beds in the market catchment and local authority area, 
respectively. This translates to a shortfall of 150 and 992 full en-
suite wetroom bedrooms, respectively, when assessed on this 
basis. 

- The market catchment and local authority area are expected to 
have shortfalls of 171 and 500 market standard beds, 
respectively, by 2035, assuming all planned schemes are 
developed, and existing supply and prevalence rates remain 
constant, reflecting the sustained and escalating nature of need.  

• Paragraph 4.52 of the DaSA says: 
“The East Sussex Bedded Care Strategy & Integrated Estates Strategy 
2018 estimates future need for older people’s specialist housing and 
accommodation within the County. The overall need identified within 
the Strategy for the district is in the order of some 800 dwellings for 
older people to 2027, alongside a net need of around 250 beds for 
residential/nursing care over the same period.” 

• There is a care home operator who already operates in the district 
secured to operate the scheme should planning permission be granted.    

• The scheme will allow for downsizing in the local area releasing family 
housing back on to the market. 

• The scheme will create job and training opportunities within the area 
during its construction and operation.  

• The delivery of a care home on the site would count towards the 
Council’s supply of homes. In this regard the Planning Practice 
Guidance says that residential institutions in Use Class C2 (e.g. care 

Page 35



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

homes) count towards the supply of homes for older people. Based on 
the number of bedspaces proposed, the care home proposal would 
deliver the equivalent of some 36 homes.  

 
8.2.5 It is the case that the Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land 

supply (it was 3.09 years as at 1 April 2023). This highlights the need to 
ensure that Westfield’s identified housing requirement is delivered on its 
allocated sites, particularly in the HWNL where opportunities are limited. 
Policy LHN1 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy requires housing 
developments to: (i) be of a size, type and mix of housing which reflect both 
current and projected housing needs; and (ii) in rural areas, provide a mix of 
housing sizes and types, with at least 30% one and two bedroom dwellings. 
Paragraph 15.10 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy explains that 
providing smaller dwellings in rural areas could allow older residents to 
downsize and stay within villages. The site’s development for anything other 
than 40 dwellings for “housing with care”, of which 40% are affordable, 
would undermine the ability of the Council to enable the provision of 
Westfield’s identified housing need. 

 
8.2.6 While it is the case that a care home previously existed on the site and it is 

not clear why the use of the site as a care home was excluded in favour of 
the ultimate allocation for “housing with care” (Use Class C3), Policy WES2 
is an adopted policy which has been determined to be acceptable through 
the plan-making process. The DaSA was ultimately found to be “sound” by 
the examination Inspector. As such, these reasons do not justify granting 
permission for a care home development on the site. 

 
8.2.7 The DaSA does not allocate any sites for the provision of care homes in the 

district. Instead, Policies CO1 (i) and CO5 of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy and Policy DHG5 of the DaSA facilitate provision on suitable sites 
by the development management process (i.e. by the determination of 
individual planning applications). The Council’s approach in this regard was 
found to be “sound” at examination. As such, the absence of allocated care 
home sites in the DaSA does not provide justification for allowing the care 
home proposal.    

 
8.2.8 In terms of the need to provide care homes in the district, this is not 

disputed. The shortfall in bedspaces in the Market Catchment Area (MCA) 
and Local Authority Area (LAA), as identified in the Applicant’s Planning 
Need Assessment (PNA) report (April 2022), is acknowledged (see 
paragraph 8.2.4 above for figures), and this shortfall in spaces assumes that 
all planned supply in the MCA and LAA is developed (119 bedspaces at the 
time of the report). The Parish Council say that these further 119 bedspaces 
do not include any approvals from 2023. This is correct, as the PNA report 
was completed in April 2022 and provides the up-to-date figures at that time. 
A review of subsequent planning permissions in the district identifies a 
further 35 care bedspaces could be provided, and these would all be in 
Bexhill. The need for more bedspaces would still remain.   

 
8.2.9 The Parish Council have queried the methodology used in the Applicant’s 

PNA report, advising that:  
 

“When viewing the available care homes within a five miles radius from the 
site of Moorhurst there were 40 care homes found on the caresourcer.com 

Page 36



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

website plus another 37 in the Bexhill area and several more in the rural 
areas around Westfield. This is far more than the identified care homes 
outlined in the Frontier Estates Policy Review document in Appendix 3 as for 
some reason the provision in Hastings has been missed out. Many Care 
Homes are geographically closer to Westfield than Bexhill and several of the 
rural care home providers seem to have been missed out on the map.”  

 
8.2.10 The Applicant’s PNA report is based on the area covered by Rother District 

Council and a Market Catchment Area (MCA) centred on the application 
site, extending to a circa 3-mile radius, which includes part of Hastings 
Borough Council. This 3-mile MCA has been adopted by the author of the 
report (Carterwood) because the site is: 

 
 “…situated inland from the coast and we consider it less likely that potential 

residents would move from Hastings to an inland location. Greensleeves 
Care have voiced a desire to operate this care home when it opens, and 
given their existing local presence and reputation, we believe it is likely that 
the majority of residents will travel from within a circa 3-mile radius.”        

 
8.2.11 Carterwood’s justification for a 3-mile MCA is considered to be reasonable 

and is why care homes outside of this radius have not been included on 
their map showing “all competing homes and planned provision”. It is also 
reasonable to exclude Hastings Borough Council from the Local Authority 
Area given that the application site is in Rother District. Turning to the Parish 
Council’s comment that there are 37 care homes in Bexhill, these are shown 
on the map but unfortunately the scale of the map makes it difficult to show 
all of these individually. The Parish Council have also advised that several of 
the rural care home providers are missing from the map, but these have not 
been identified, and so this has not been verified.   

 
8.2.12 In addition to the evidence provided by the Applicant, the Housing and 

Economic Development Need Assessment 2020 confirms that Rother has a 
higher proportion of people over 55 (and 65) compared to the rest of 
England, and that over the period 2019 to 2039 the older population in 
Rother is set to increase. It identifies a need for all types of housing for older 
people and this includes retirement/sheltered housing (Use Class C3), 
housing with enhanced sheltered housing (Use Class C3), extra care 
housing (Use Class C3) and care bedspaces (Use Class C2), which 
includes both care homes and care homes with nursing. In Rother there is 
expected to be a need for a further 1,206 care bedspaces by 2039, which 
equates to a need for around 60 per year in the district.  

 
8.2.13 The Applicant has advised that the site has been extensively marketed and 

there has been no interest from developers to bringing forward the site in 
accordance with the site allocation. This is backed by comments from two 
market leading retirement living/sheltered housing developers (Churchill 
Retirement Living and McCarthy and Stone) who say the site is not suitable 
for them or their product.  

 
8.2.14 RPC Land and New Homes have been responsible for marketing the site on 

behalf of the landowner (ESCC). They have provided a letter, which details 
their marketing of the site: 

 
“RPC Land were instructed by ESCC to market the site in March 2019.  

Page 37



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

As this brownfield site did not have a current planning consent but had a 
proposed (not adopted) allocation in the Rother District local plan for 
Housing with Care for some 40 dwellings, following discussions with 
yourselves we were instructed to go to the widest possible market, which 
included care home operators, retirement, and residential developers.    

 
A colour brochure giving details of the site was prepared (copy attached) 
and released on the 14 March 2019, requesting all interested parties to 
register their interest and bids by the 22 April 2019. 

 
An advertisement was place in the Estates Gazette (copy attached) on the 
23 March 2019 to ensure the site was exposed nationally, and to the widest 
possible market.  

 
We received 33 strong enquiries and 19 other general enquiries during the 
marketing process with final reminders on the 11 April 2019 to some 789 
companies, on our data base for offers by 18 April. (Email copies of our data 
base released via Campaign Monitor are attached.)  

 
During the marketing process, we received six enquiries, via the Estates 
Gazette advertisement from London/regional land agents seeking sites for 
their retained clients. We did not receive any bids from those agents.  

 
In total we received five offers for the site. Three of the offers were for a C3 
residential scheme, one purely for C2 use and the other as detailed below 
for a care home for the elderly with assisted living apartments. Residential 
bids were excluded due to the proposed allocation. 

 
We did not receive any offers for purely the proposed allocation use within 
the local plan.  

 
An acceptable offer from a care home provider based in the Midlands was 
accepted, with the intention that the site would be used as a care home for 
the elderly with assisted living apartments.  

 
The purchasers’ whose offer was subject to contract only, and not 
conditional on a detailed planning application was subject to a pre-
application meeting with Rother District Council.  

 
Heads of Terms were agreed with the prospective purchasers and solicitors 
instructed on 14 May 2019. It was not until 29 November 2019 that Rother 
District Council responded to the prospective buyers, and commented on 
various issues, three of which were not particularly helpful and subsequently 
the purchasers despite various alternative schemes decided to withdraw 
their offer.  

 
RPC Land were instructed to re-market the site in April 2020. We 
immediately contacted other bidders and re-circulated the site to our 
extensive database. This is the second time the site was widely marketed 
over a period of 13 months. 

   
  The market had softened by this time, due to the COVID pandemic, and 

residential developers had little appetite to fight the site allocation, from 
housing with care, to traditional residential units, which limited the market to 

Page 38



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

just a few specialist developers in “Housing for Care” being potentially 
interested in the site. 

 
Following the re-marketing, a bid from Frontier on a subject to contract and 
satisfactory planning consent, was ultimately accepted in November 2020. 

 
Of the other initial interest, we received from specialist providers they 
decided not to bid, with their main concerns being: 
1. The proposed site allocation was too restrictive. 
2. The return of capital in such a rural location was insufficient an 

investment. 
3. Build costs for a scheme in this location were importunately high. 
4. Concern of recruiting sufficient qualifies staff. 
5. The site was not big enough, nor the allocation for only 40 units, with 

potential for affordable requirement, to want such an investment. 
 

Following acceptance of the Frontier offer, contracts were finally exchanged 
conditionally for a satisfactory consent being obtained in July 2021, when 
they commenced their planning application negotiations with Rother District 
Council. 

 
I can confirm that the site remained on our website from April 2020 to July 
2021. During this period, we received various enquiries all of which resulted 
in no further offers.” 

 
8.2.15 Turning to the comments from two market leading sheltered housing 

developers, Churchill Retirement Living say: 
 
 “This site doesn’t work for Churchill Retirement due to a number of factors.  
 
 On site affordable housing doesn’t work, my view is that 40 dwellings with 

40% affordable housing is just not feasible whilst enabling a credible and 
sustainable RL community.  

 
 As a company we have engaged with a number of RPs regarding mixed 

tenure retirement living blocks. Not one of them will entertain the idea of 
putting different tenures within a single core as would be required here due 
to: 
• Affordability – Service charges circa £2,750 - £3,750 per annum for 

basic RL blocks would mean that a separate block is required to 
provide more affordable service charges for the non-market element. 
RPs will not wish to take on void service charges at those levels for 
obvious reasons.  

• A small community of RL of 40 or so units is built around ensuring a 
communal living arrangement with all residents paying equitable 
amounts towards upkeep. It would be impossible for certain residents 
to pay lower amounts. This is one of the main issues why it is so 
challenging to have affordable housing and RL in the same block.  

• Viability – The cross subsidy required to provide 40% affordable 
housing on a proposal with larger non saleable areas, lower sales 
saturation, empty property costs and higher general base build costs 
would likely be onerous. My view is that 40% affordable housing would 
likely make such a modest proposal unviable  

Page 39



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

• AH Provision – I note the 40% requirement, however we would as a 
company look to negotiate this out, and to provide a commuted sum. 
Without knowing the land value, I would assume, for the reasons stated 
above that the scheme would be unviable to deliver in terms stated by 
the policy.  

 
In essence therefore you are looking at 2 blocks on a small site which would 
likely reduce the units to less than 30s in my view once separate amenity, 
servicing and parking have been factored in. Again, I think there will be 
viability issues associated with bringing forward such a scheme which would 
have serious implications on land value.  
 
I have looked at the location of the site online. The area appears to have a 
population of 2,750 people which is probably half of the critical mass 
required and the required amenities are far too minimal to support our 
residents everyday shopping needs.” 

 
8.2.16 McCarthy and Stone say: 
 
 “The main issue for us is the overall principle of the site not being suitable 

for one of our developments, either retirement or extra care. Westfield is 
simply too small in terms of population, demographic, and catchment to 
support a development as set out within the policy. Moreover, it lacks the 
general amenities for the active elderly. It would appear that the site may be 
better suited to a care home which would be more self-contained. 

 
 In nearly all cases retirement developments provide financial contributions 

towards off site provision of affordable housing due to the specialist nature 
of the retirement developments. It is well-established that affordable housing 
provision cannot be provided onsite within a single retirement apartment 
block with its associated management regime and high service charges, and 
the conflict this can create. Moreover, even if the development were split, 
this would impact the viability to such an extent as to render the scheme 
undeliverable. 

 
 Given the nature of this form of accommodation with its additional levels of 

non-saleable floorspace in the form of communal spaces, guest suites, 
internal buggy store and internal refuse store, development viability is 
always a consideration if this form of accommodation is to be delivered. As a 
result, most applications will be accompanied with a viability appraisal as 
developers are not able to afford the Local Plan policy requirement. 

 
 Retirement developments have higher service charges due to not only the 

levels of communal space, as discussed above, but also other costs 
associated to additional staff costs, upkeep of the communal spaces / 
communal activities, maintenance of the landscaped garden / other outdoor 
areas and building maintenance. These additional charges are generally at 
a level that are not within the budgets of Registered Social Landlords (RSL) 
and such charges must be shared equally across all residents rather than 
allowing different charges to different people and it is difficult to find an RSL 
to take on such units with the associated costs. 

 
 Additionally given the size of retirement developments the required provision 

of onsite units are not at a level to attract interest from RSLs. In addition to 

Page 40



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

quantum of units provided the number most retirement developments will be 
in a single footprint block resulting in management issues where the RSL 
has issues around the upkeep of the apartment itself with it being part of a 
larger building, which again turns RSLs away from being involved in such 
developments.  

 
 While there are some elements that could be addressed within any 

submission in principle, I do not believe that this site would be suitable for 
one of our developments.” 

 
8.2.17 Based on the above marketing details for the site and the comments from 

two market leading sheltered housing developers, it is considered that the 
site is unlikely to come forward for a scheme that accords with the site 
allocation. This is certainly not the case now, or in the immediate future. 

 
8.2.18 The Parish Council say that the site being undeliverable for its allocated use 

has been poorly demonstrated, as there is no mention of any affordable 
housing provider nor providers for smaller schemes such as Rural Housing 
Trust. They have also questioned why the site is not suitable for McCarthy 
and Stone when looking at their other developments (e.g. 43 retirement flats 
in Hawkhurst) and website, Westfield seems ideal for one of their 
developments. It should also be noted that smaller affordable residential 
developments with affordable housing in a rural setting does work as 
demonstrated by the ‘Five Villages’ project in Icklesham and ‘Rectory Court’ 
in Burwash. These comments are noted. However, it is reiterated that the 
site has been extensively marketed and there has been no interest from 
developers to bring forward the site in accordance with the site allocation. 
Two market leading retirement living/sheltered housing developers have 
also advised that the site is not suitable for them or their product.  

       
8.2.19 Turning to the current proposal for a care home, this would provide a form of 

housing for older people, delivering the equivalent of some 36 homes, which 
would make a meaningful contribution to the Council’s housing land supply 
and accord with the Government’s objective of “significantly boosting” the 
supply of homes. Furthermore, the proposed development is not a 
speculative proposal. The Applicant is a developer in the care home sector 
and an operator (Greensleeves Care who operate a small 21-bed care 
home at Whitegates in Westfield) is already in place to operate the care 
home. Therefore, assuming reasonable lead in times for construction and 
operation, the provision of 64 care bedspaces would make a timely and 
meaningful contribution to the district’s C2 registered care bedspace need in 
the immediate future. It is considered that the delivery of the equivalent of 
some 36 homes for older people, together with the provision of this in the 
near future, would be a significant public benefit of the proposal.     

 
8.2.20 Further to the above, the proposed care home would be a modern purpose-

built facility, which Greensleeves Care say will offer excellent 
accommodation and much needed care beds in excess of Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) standards. By way of comparison, the existing 21-bed 
care home at Whitegates is a former dwelling, which was converted and 
extended to create a care home in the late 1980s.    

 
8.2.21 The care home proposal would also provide employment during the 

construction and operational phases of the development and have a positive 

Page 41



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

impact on the local economy. The application form says that the care home 
would create the equivalent of 65 full-time employees. Commensurate with 
the scale of the proposed development, these would be modest social and 
environmental public benefits of the proposal.  

 
8.2.22 It is acknowledged that by allowing this care home proposal, the provision of 

Westfield’s identified housing need would be undermined (on this site the 
failure to deliver some 40 dwellings for “housing with care”, of which 40% 
are affordable). There would also be a loss of money raised through the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and no New Homes Bonus. However, 
the proposal would still provide opportunities for local older persons – 
including those in Westfield and the wider District – to downsize, thus 
freeing up housing for families. With regard to the loss of CIL money, this is 
somewhat counterbalanced by the additional CIL liable on other 
development sites in the district where the percentage of affordable housing 
has been reduced on viability grounds (where a higher proportion of market 
housing is achieved, a consequence is that the Local Planning Authority 
gains more CIL).   

 
8.2.23 In this case material considerations indicate that determination of the 

application other than in accordance with the development plan is justified. 
As such, the proposal for a 64-bed care home is acceptable in principle.    

 
8.3 Accessible location by modes other than the private car 
 
8.3.1 Policy OSS3 (x) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy says that in 

assessing the suitability of a particular location for development, proposals 
should be considered in the context of the need for access to employment 
opportunities. 

 
8.3.2 Policy TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy requires new 

development to minimise the need to travel and support good access to 
employment, services and community facilities. 

 
8.3.3 Paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework says: 
 

“Significant development should be focused on locations which are or can 
be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a 
genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce congestion and 
emissions, and improve air quality and public health. However, opportunities 
to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and 
rural areas, and this should be taken into account in both plan-making and 
decision-making.” 

 
8.3.4 Under the site allocation policy for housing with care, the provision of a 

number of measures to prioritise safe pedestrian access, and access to 
sustainable forms of transport, is a requirement. These measures include:  
• an upgraded footway along the A28 connecting to the village core, 

together with safe means of accessing it from the site; 
• pedestrian access to Footpath 27 on the south-western boundary of 

the site; and 
• a bus stop adjacent to the site. 

 

Page 42



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

8.3.5 The site is located within the development boundary for Westfield, 
approximately 500m to the north-east of the village centre. There is no 
footway on the western side of Main Road adjacent to the application site. 
However, a footway is present on the opposite (eastern) side of the road, 
and this provides a pedestrian route to the village centre. In relation to public 
transport, there are bus stops along Main Road with routes operated by 
Stagecoach (route numbers 29, 342 & 382) Rambler Coaches (route 
numbers 361 & 381) and the Battle Area Community Transport (route 
numbers B72 & B75). These provide direct access to destinations including 
Tenterden, Northiam, Robertsbridge and Hastings. The only ‘regular’ bus 
service is route number 29 (Hastings-Tenterden), which now runs hourly 
Monday to Saturday daytime, with new later evening journeys and a new 
two hourly Sunday service. The closest bus stops to the site are 
approximately 200 and 260m to the south of the new site access, which are 
within walking distance.        

 
8.3.6 The proposed care home would provide accommodation for the elderly and 

would be a largely self-contained living environment, meeting most 
resident’s day-to day needs. It therefore seems unlikely that there would be 
a significant need or demand for residents to independently travel from the 
care home, including to the services and facilities in the village. However, 
the care home would have a large number of residents (up to 64), and as 
such there remains a need to provide sustainable travel access for staff and 
visitors.      

 
8.3.7 ESCC Highway Authority have advised that currently the site is poorly 

located from an accessibility perspective in relation to walking, cycling and 
public transport. However, they have also advised that provided the 
following highway works, bus stop improvements and bus service 
contributions are secured by Section 106 Agreement, they would have no 
objection to the proposal in relation to this issue, as the bus services 
available nearby would provide an alternative means of travel for some 
journey types: 
• Provision of a footway leading into the site alongside the new vehicular 

access. 
• Provision of a new footway which will extend a short distance along the 

north-west side of the A28 carriageway. 
• Provision of a pedestrian crossing point with dropped kerbs/tactile 

paving on the A28 in the vicinity of the site access. This would enable 
pedestrian access to and from the site via the footway on the opposite 
(eastern) side of the road. 

• Provision of upgraded bus stops to the south of the site (the 
northbound stop near Westfield Surgery requires a raised kerb, bus 
stop clearway markings and some hard standing, along with a drop 
kerb to the opposite side of the road. The southbound stop adjacent to 
Westfield Surgery requires a raised kerb, bus stop clearway, bus 
shelter (subject to the Parish Council’s agreement) and seating). 

• Any other measures agreed as part of the subsequent s278 process. 
• A contribution of £550 per room (totalling £35,200) towards an 

improved bus service 29. 
 
8.3.8 In addition to the above, ESCC Highway Authority have advised that the 

submitted Travel Plan, which seeks to promote walking, cycling, public 
transport and car-sharing, would need to be enhanced and this can be 

Page 43



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

secured by condition. A Travel Plan audit fee of £6,000 would be secured by 
Section 106 Agreement. 

  
8.3.9 Taken together, the highway works, bus stop improvements, bus service 

contributions and measures secured under an enhanced Travel Plan would 
ensure that the proposed care home would be accessible by travel modes 
other than the private car. The Section 106 Agreement (or planning 
obligation) needed to secure these would therefore mitigate the impact of 
otherwise unacceptable development in these regards and make it 
acceptable in planning terms. Accordingly, it would be necessary, related 
directly to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind. As such, it would accord with the provisions of Regulation 122 of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as amended) and 
the tests for planning obligations set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework at Paragraph 57.        

  
8.3.10 Local residents and the Parish Council have advised that the footway on the 

eastern side of the A28 (Main Road) is narrow and dangerous to use. They 
have therefore asked for it to be upgraded if planning permission is granted 
for the proposed care home. The Parish Council have also advised that a 
pelican crossing or some form of traffic calming to slow speeding traffic is 
needed in order for residents of the care home to safely cross the road. 
These highway works are required under the site allocation policy for 
housing with care. However, the current proposal is not for a housing 
development. It is for a 64-bed care home and in relation to this use, ESCC 
Highway Authority have not sought to secure these works as part of the 
development. They are therefore not necessary to make the proposed care 
home development acceptable.  

 
8.4 Character and appearance of the area 
 
8.4.1 The application site is located within the development boundary for 

Westfield and the HWNL. Policies OSS4 (iii), RA1 (i) & EN3 of the Rother 
Local Plan Core Strategy, Policy DEN1 of the DaSA and Paragraphs 135 & 
180 of the National Planning Policy Framework seek, amongst other things, 
to ensure that new development is of high design quality that respects, 
contributes positively towards, and does not detract from the character and 
appearance of the locality. 

 
8.4.2 Policy EN1 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy seeks to ensure the 

protection, and wherever possible enhancement, of the district’s nationally 
designated and locally distinctive landscapes and landscape features; 
including (i) the distinctive identified landscape character, ecological 
features and settlement pattern of the HWNL. 

 
8.4.3 Policy DEN2 of the DaSA also seeks to conserve and enhance the HWNL. 

Similarly, Paragraph 182 of the National Planning Policy Framework says 
that in the HWNL “great weight should be given to conserving and 
enhancing landscape and scenic beauty” and the “conservation and 
enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important 
considerations”. It goes on to say that the “scale and extent” of development 
within the HWNL should be “limited”.  

 

Page 44



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

8.4.4 There is also the High Weald Management Plan which has objectives for 
conserving and enhancing the natural landscape and beauty of the HWNL.  

 
8.4.5 The proposed care home is a large institutional style building, which has the 

potential to harm the landscape and scenic beauty of the HWNL, as well as 
its wildlife and cultural heritage. The latter is an issue that has been raised 
by the High Weald Unit who consider the proposal to be an 
overdevelopment of the site, which has repercussions for the amount of 
space left for biodiversity.     

 
8.4.6 In terms of landscape impact, this is a brownfield site located on the north-

eastern edge of the village, which was last in use as a residential care home 
and previously had planning permission for a 48-bed residential care unit. 
Moreover, it is currently allocated for a development of some 40 dwellings. It 
is noted that any development here could have an urbanising impact in the 
HWNL.   

 
8.4.7 The two-storey care home would be a building of appreciable extent, scale 

and massing and could be noticeable from the surrounding area. However, it 
would be located centrally within the site and set back from the site 
boundaries. The site is also reasonably well screened from the surrounding 
area by existing boundary trees, which would be retained where possible 
and enhanced by the planting of new trees, secured by condition. Details of 
the general soft landscaping for the site would also be secured by condition. 
The County Landscape Architect recommends that the proposed 
development can be supported as it would have a negligible and beneficial 
effect on local landscape character and views, subject to the implementation 
of a landscape masterplan and the long-term positive management of the 
entire site. 

 
8.4.8 In terms of its design, the scale, extent and massing of the proposed care 

home building would be at odds with its setting in terms of the prevailing 
pattern and small-scale nature of existing residential development nearby. 
However, this must be considered in the context of the development that 
could come forward under the site allocation. In this regard, it is considered 
likely that 40 retirement living/sheltered housing units would come forward in 
a single block, or several blocks, of flats. An indicative site layout plan 
showing a single block of flats has been provided by the Applicant to 
illustrate this.   

 
8.4.9 The external appearance of the proposed care home building would have 

some commonality with residential flats, and articulation and visual interest 
would be created through a combination of differing roof heights and 
projecting gables. The use of two distinct external materials comprising 
timber cladding and red bricks would also help to break up the elevations. 
The final details of these external materials and the proposed clay roof tiles 
would be secured by condition to ensure they reflect the local vernacular. 
Details of the windows, doors, roof verges, roof eaves and balustrades 
would also be secured by condition to ensure a satisfactory building 
appearance. 

 
8.4.10 In terms of lighting, the care home building itself has a significant amount of 

glazing, and there would also be a need for lighting to the external areas 
(e.g. the parking area). As such, there is potential for light pollution from the 

Page 45



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

development to harm the dark night sky. However, some light pollution is to 
be expected given that the site has been allocated for a housing 
development and is located within the development boundary for the village. 
Notwithstanding this, retention of existing trees and vegetation on the site 
boundaries, together with new tree planting, would limit the spill of light from 
the site, and this would be further limited by a Lighting Design/Mitigation 
Strategy secured by condition. The strategy would need to have regard to 
the institute of Lighting Professionals guidance note on The Reduction of 
Obtrusive Light. Guidance for lighting is not about there being no light 
sources but about seeking suitable details which mitigate and minimise any 
harm. 

 
8.4.11 The High Weald Unit is concerned that the proposal won’t deliver 

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) and as such would fail to conserve and 
enhance the HWNL. They say the BNG calculation submitted with the 
proposal is not transparent and makes unrealistic assumptions about the 
gains of the created habitats in the real-world (a 14.5% gain in habitat area 
and a 41.14% gain in biodiversity units in linear habitats are proposed). This 
is acknowledged by the County Ecologist who agrees that the figures 
reported are likely to overestimate the amount of BNG that the proposed 
layout will provide. However, the County Ecologist is satisfied that a 
minimum of 10% BNG can be achieved on the site and has recommended 
the Applicant provides an Ecological Design Strategy, secured by condition.    

 
8.4.12 For the above reasons the proposed development would have an 

acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the area. Having 
regard to Paragraph 183 footnote 64 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the proposal is not considered to be ‘major development’ in the 
HWNL.   

 
8.5 Highway and transport impacts 
 
8.5.1 Policies TR3 and CO6 (ii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy seek to 

ensure adequate and safe access arrangements, avoid prejudice to road 
and/or pedestrian safety, and seek mitigation against transport impacts 
which may arise from development proposals. 

 
8.5.2 Paragraph 114 of the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to ensure 

that, amongst other things, safe and suitable access to the site can be 
achieved for all users, and any significant impacts from the development on 
the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway 
safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

 
8.5.3 Paragraph 115 says:  
 
 “Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 

there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” 

 
8.5.4 Both National Highways and ESCC Highway Authority have appraised the 

scheme in relation to the highway and transport impacts. 
 
8.5.5 National Highways have assessed the scheme in relation to potential 

impacts on the safe and efficient operation of the Strategic Road Network 

Page 46



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

(SRN), in this case, particularly within the vicinity of the A21(T) at its junction 
with the A28 Westfield Lane at Baldslow, Hastings, East Sussex. They have 
no objection to the proposal, concluding that the quantum of operational 
development traffic on the A21 will be very low. As such, it will not have an 
adverse impact on the safe and efficient operation of the Strategic Road 
Network.  

 
8.5.6 ESCC Highway Authority have assessed the proposed development in 

terms of the site access, traffic generation and highway impact, internal 
layout and on-site parking provision. In conclusion, they have no objection to 
the proposal subject to standard conditions.   

 
8.5.7 For the above reasons, the proposed development is acceptable in relation 

to highway and transport impacts.  
 
8.6 Amenities of neighbouring properties  
 
8.6.1 There are four residential properties in the immediate vicinity of the site; 

Marden Ash and Cornerways to the north and Furtherdown and Tudor Close 
Cottage to the south-west.    

 
8.6.2 Policy OSS4 (ii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy says that new 

development should not unreasonably harm the amenities of adjoining 
properties. 

 
8.6.3 Policy DEN7 of the DaSA seeks to avoid significant adverse impacts on 

health and quality of life, including from, amongst other things, noise, odour 
and light pollution. This is consistent with Paragraph 191 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
8.6.4 Under the site allocation for housing with care some 40 dwelling units could 

be provided on the site, which would have some impact on the residents of 
the neighbouring properties. This would also be the case with the proposed 
care home. Potential impacts arising from the development include 
disturbance from noise, odour and light pollution, loss of light/outlook and 
loss of privacy. Matters such as loss of view and loss of property value are 
not material planning considerations.   

 
 Privacy/light/outlook 
8.6.5 The proposed two-storey care home would be located centrally within the 

site and positioned at least 20m away from neighbouring properties. This 
measure of separation alone would ensure that harmful overlooking of 
neighbouring properties from the care home would not occur, and nor would 
the building result in loss of light, overshadowing or loss of outlook. In 
addition to the physical separation between the care home building and 
neighbouring properties, views into and out of the site would be screened in 
part by the retention of existing trees and vegetation on the site boundaries, 
together with new tree planting, secured by condition.    

 
8.6.6 Residents of the care home would have access to the communal garden 

around the building. Where this adjoins the rear gardens of Marden Ash & 
Cornerways to the north, a minimum 4m wide landscape buffer is proposed. 
This would restrict views between the care home garden and neighbouring 

Page 47



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

gardens such that overlooking to the detriment of residential amenity would 
not occur.  

 
8.6.7 The neighbouring properties to the south-west (Furtherdown and Tudor 

Close Cottage) do not directly adjoin the application site; they are separated 
from it by their shared driveway which the public footpath runs along. There 
would also be a landscape buffer along the south-west boundary of the site. 
For these reasons, harmful overlooking of the neighbouring properties from 
the outside areas of the care home site, including the communal garden and 
parking area, would not occur.   

 
 Disturbance from noise, odour and light pollution 
8.6.8 The care home includes a kitchen, plant room and laundry room, which 

would be located in the front north-east corner of the building, well 
separated from neighbouring residential properties. Externally, an Air 
Source Heat Pump Compound is proposed to the north-east of the front part 
of the building and a sub-station is proposed to the south-east. The 
application is accompanied by a Noise Assessment which has been 
reviewed by the Council’s Environmental Health Service. As far as noise 
affecting the development itself, there are no significant impacts predicted 
for either internal or external spaces. Plant noise limits have been proposed, 
which would protect the amenities of neighbouring properties, and these can 
be secured by condition. Any odours arising from cooking would be dealt 
with by the care home’s kitchen extraction system.    

 
8.6.9 There would also be people and traffic related noise associated with the 

proposed care home development, including from vehicles manoeuvring in 
the parking area and from care home residents in the communal garden. 
Such noise is to be expected given that the site has been allocated for a 
housing development. Moreover, people/traffic related noise would mainly 
occur during the daytime when such noise can be reasonably expected. 
With regard to the proposed parking area, this would be located at the front 
of the site, adjacent to the A28 (Main Road), in an area which is already 
subject to traffic noise attributed to the road. In this location the parking area 
would cause the least disturbance from noise.  

 
8.6.10 In terms of lighting, there is potential for the development to result in light 

pollution to the detriment of residential amenity. However, some light 
pollution is to be expected given that the site has been allocated for a 
housing development. Notwithstanding this, retention of existing trees and 
vegetation on the site boundaries, together with new tree planting, would 
limit the spill of light from the site, and this would be further limited by a 
Lighting Design/Mitigation Strategy secured by condition.  

 
8.6.11 There is potential for noise, dust and light impacts during the construction 

phase of the development, and these would need to be addressed in a 
Construction Management Plan, secured by condition. A separate condition 
restricting the days and hours of construction works and deliveries to the site 
would also be necessary. 

 
8.7 Flood risk and drainage 
 
8.7.1 Policy EN7 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy says that flood risk will 

be taken into account at all stages in the planning process to avoid 

Page 48



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

inappropriate development in areas at current or future risk from flooding, 
and to direct development away from areas of highest risk. 

 
8.7.2 The Government’s flood map for planning shows that the entire site is within 

Flood Zone 1, which has a low probability of flooding from rivers and the 
sea. It is also not shown to be at risk of flooding from surface water or 
reservoirs. Turning to groundwater, the Council’s Level 1 Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment (SFRA) 2021 includes mapping for groundwater flooding 
at Appendix H. This shows the site to be at no risk of groundwater flooding.  

 
8.7.3 Overall, the site is at low risk of flooding from all sources and as such the 

sequential test – which aims to steer new development to areas with the 
lowest risk of flooding from any source – is not applicable in this case. 
Therefore, in relation to flood risk, the provision of a care home on this site is 
acceptable in principle, subject to appropriately designed foul and surface 
water drainage systems to ensure satisfactory drainage of the site and to 
ensure flood risks are not increased elsewhere. 

 
8.7.4 With regard to the disposal of foul sewage, it is proposed to connect to an 

existing public foul sewer in Cottage Lane via a new rising main along Main 
Road. The submitted Drainage Strategy shows that a foul water pumping 
station would be provided on-site.  

 
8.7.5 Turning to the disposal of surface water, Policies SRM2 (iii) & EN7 (iii) of the 

Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policy DEN5 of the DaSA seek to, 
amongst other things, promote the use of sustainable drainage systems to 
control the quantity and rate of run-off. In this case, infiltration testing results 
show that the discharge of surface water via infiltration-based SuDS 
features (i.e., soakaways, infiltration basins or permeable paving) is not 
appropriate. In the circumstances, it is proposed that on-site surface water is 
dealt with via a combination of permeable paving, below-ground geocellular 
attenuation tanks and flow restriction devices. Final discharge would be to 
public sewer.   

 
8.7.6 Southern Water have advised that their initial investigations indicate that 

they can provide foul and surface water sewage disposal to service the 
proposed development. Furthermore, the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 
are satisfied that it will be possible to safely manage surface water runoff 
from the development site. The detailed design of the drainage systems 
would need to be secured by condition.  

 
8.7.7 For the above reasons the proposed development is acceptable in relation 

to flood risk and drainage. 
 
8.8 Biodiversity  
 
8.8.1 Policy EN5 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy, Policy DEN4 of the 

DaSA and the National Planning Policy Framework seek to conserve and 
enhance habitats and biodiversity. 

 
8.8.2 The application is accompanied by various ecological documents, including, 

but not limited to: 
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (updated March 2024). 

Page 49



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

• Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural 
Method Statement (updated February 2024).  

• Reptile and Bat Report, dated October 2022. 
• Badger Survey Report, dated December 2021.  
• Calculation of Biodiversity Net Gain using Defra Metric 3.0, dated 

September 2022.  
 
8.8.3 The County Ecologist has reviewed the scheme in relation to potential 

impacts on biodiversity. In summary, the proposed development can be 
supported from an ecological perspective, provided the recommended 
mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures are implemented. 
Conditions are recommended to secure: 
• Safeguards for badgers. 
• A Biodiversity Method Statement (BMS) for the rescue and 

translocation of reptiles. 
• A sensitive lighting strategy. 
• An Ecological Design Strategy (EDS) setting out how measurable and 

meaningful biodiversity net gain will be delivered. 
• A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) for the long-

term management of semi-natural habitats for biodiversity. 
• Compliance with the updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA).  
• Updated ecological surveys if development has not commenced within 

18 months of the reptile and bat surveys. 
 
8.8.4 The following comments and recommendations of the County Ecologist 

should be noted: 
 
 Badgers 
8.8.5 The site offers suitable cover for sett creation and foraging opportunities. A 

sett with at least seven entrance holes is present on site. This was disused 
in September 2021, but two holes showed evidence of use in November 
2021. From the information provided, I agree with the assessment that the 
sett is likely a subsidiary or annex sett. From the proposed layout site, it is 
not possible to retain the sett and closure is required. As such, works will 
require a licence from Natural England to proceed. 

 
8.8.6 The Badger Report recommends pre-commencement survey of the site to 

inform current usage and appropriate mitigation and compensation. If 
surveys demonstrate that the site is disused, closure can proceed without a 
licence. If surveys demonstrate current usage, a licence will be required. 

 
8.8.7 Regardless of the status of the sett and the need for a licence, given the 

known presence of badgers in the local area, safeguards should be put in 
place to prevent badgers being trapped or harmed during development. 

 
 Bats 
8.8.8 Bat surveys were carried out broadly in accordance with best practice, 

although it is noted that none of surveyors were licensed; whilst this is not a 
requirement, good practice survey guidelines (Collins (Ed.), 2016) 
recommend that presence/absence surveys should be undertaken, or at 
least led by, a licenced bat surveyor. 

 
8.8.9 Surveys found no evidence of roosting bats in tree T47 (dead sweet 

chestnut). The Arboricultural Report (Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact 
Page 50



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement, The Landscape 
Partnership, December 2021) recommends the removal of stem and 
management of basal stems as coppice for this tree. As the tree is in the 
south west corner of the site, within an area of retained vegetation, it is 
recommended that as much as possible standing deadwood is retained, 
given that it retains potential for roosting bats as well as other wildlife. Two 
further trees on site offer moderate potential; current plans show these trees 
as being retained. Should any works be required to these trees, additional 
surveys will be required to inform appropriate mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement. 

 
8.8.10 Overall, bat activity within the site (recorded during the roost surveys) was 

relatively low, with activity recorded from at least two species; common 
pipistrelle and Myotis sp. Foraging and commuting appeared to be most 
common along the footpath adjacent to the south west boundary of the site 
and along the main road, and common pipistrelles were recorded roosting in 
buildings adjacent to the site – although not specified, it is assumed this 
refers to buildings to the south. 

 
8.8.11 Artificial light can negatively impact on bats through e.g. causing disturbance 

at the roost, affecting feeding behaviour, avoidance of lit areas and 
increasing the chances of bats being preyed upon. It is therefore 
recommended all lighting design should take account of national guidance 
and that there is no light spill onto the boundaries of the site, or the trees 
with moderate bat roost potential. A sensitive lighting strategy should be 
required by condition. 

 
 Breeding Birds 
8.8.12 Under Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended, wild 

birds are protected from being killed, injured or captured, while their nests 
and eggs are protected from being damaged, destroyed or taken. Although 
not specifically stated in the PEA report, trees and scrub on site offer 
potential for breeding birds. To avoid disturbance to nesting birds, any 
removal of scrub/trees that could provide nesting habitat should be carried 
out outside the breeding season (generally March to August). If this is not 
reasonably practicable within the timescales, a nesting bird check should be 
carried out prior to any demolition/clearance works by an appropriately 
trained, qualified and experienced ecologist, and if any nesting birds are 
found, advice should be sought on appropriate mitigation. Bird boxes should 
be provided to mitigate for the loss of nesting sites. 

 
 Reptiles 
8.8.13 Reptile surveys were carried out broadly in accordance with best practice, 

albeit surveys were relatively compressed rather than being spread out over 
the active season. A low population of slow worm is present on site; sub-
adults as well as adults were recorded indicating the presence of a breeding 
population in the local area, if not on site. From the proposed layout, it is not 
considered viable to retain slow worms on site, and as such a receptor site 
will need to be identified and secured. The mitigation strategy outlined in the 
Reptile and Bat report is broadly acceptable. Full details, including the 
identification of a receptor site and details of any measures that may be 
required to make the receptor site suitable for reptiles, should be provided in 
a Biodiversity Method Statement (BMS) secured by condition. 

 

Page 51



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

 Mitigation Measures and Biodiversity Net Gain 
8.8.14 The site offers opportunities to provide Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG), as 

required by national and local planning policy. Previous advice provided on 
the BNG Report (Calculation of Biodiversity Net Gain using Metric 3.0, The 
Landscape Partnership, September 2022) on 05/12/22 remains valid. I 
concur with the views of the High Weald AONB Unit (30/11/22) that the 
figures reported are likely to overestimate the amount of BNG that the 
proposed layout will provide. It also remains the case that whilst the 
calculations indicate BNG can be achieved, trading rules have not been met 
due to the loss of woodland with no direct replacement. The BNG report 
states that 49 new trees are proposed to mitigate for the loss of the 
woodland; however, from a review of the PDF of the calculations (the full 
Metric spreadsheet has not been available for review), these trees are 
required to offset the impacts of the development on urban trees. As 
previously advised, it is strongly recommended that biodiverse green roofs 
are provided; as a habitat of medium distinctiveness, this could help to meet 
trading rules, and is likely to provide more meaningful BNG than the 
fragmented grassland areas proposed. 

 
8.8.15 Full details of enhancement measures to provide measurable BNG, aiming 

for a minimum of 10% with trading rules met, should be provided in an 
Ecological Design Strategy (EDS). The EDS should also include additional 
measures, such as the provision of bird, bat and or insect boxes. As 
previously advised, additional swift boxes should be provided. Long term 
management of retained, enhanced and created semi-natural habitats, 
should be secured through a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP). 

 
8.8.16 The NatureSpace Partnership, in their role of providing meaningful 

conservation for Great Crested Newts (GCNs), have advised that if the 
proposed development is approved, it is unlikely to cause an impact on 
GCNs and/or their habitats. However, there is highly suitable habitat for 
GCN within the area surrounding the application site. As such, an 
informative regarding this protected species has been recommended if 
planning permission is granted.    

 
8.9 Below-ground archaeology 
 
8.9.1 An Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment accompanies the application, 

and this has been reviewed by the County Archaeologist. The advice is that 
any groundworks undertaken at the site have the potential to expose in-situ 
archaeological remains that illuminate the history and development of the 
site and wider Westfield.   

 
8.9.2 In light of the potential for impacts to heritage assets with archaeological 

interest resulting from the proposed development, it is recommended that 
the area affected by the proposals should be the subject of a programme of 
archaeological works, secured by condition. This would enable any 
archaeological deposits and features that would be disturbed by the 
proposed works, to be either preserved in situ or, where this cannot be 
achieved, adequately recorded in advance of their loss. 

 
 
 

Page 52



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

8.10 Contamination 
 
8.10.1 The application is accompanied by a Ground Investigation Report, which 

considers there to be a low risk of contamination at the site. However, some 
areas of the site have not been investigated due to the density of vegetation. 
In this regard, further investigations have been recommended in the area of 
a historical tank in the north of the site following vegetation clearance.  

 
8.10.2 The Ground Investigation Report has been reviewed by the Environment 

Agency and the Council’s Environmental Health Service. They are satisfied 
that the proposed development can proceed without unacceptable risk to 
human health or controlled waters provided conditions are imposed on any 
planning permission.        

 
8.11 Air quality 
 
8.11.1 The Council’s Environmental Health Service has advised that the care home 

proposal requires both an air quality assessment and an emissions 
mitigation assessment to be undertaken, and it is recommended that this is 
secured by condition. This would secure any mitigation measures needed to 
alleviate the effects of nitrogen dioxide (NOx) and airborne particulate 
matters (PM10 & PM2.5) arising from the development.  

 
8.12 Other matters 
 
8.12.1 Westfield Surgery says it does not have the capacity to provide safe and 

effective care to the residents of the proposed 64-bed care home, and the 
proposal will have a significant impact on the medical services provided to 
existing patients. This concern is reflected in comments from local residents 
and the Parish Council.  

 
8.12.2 The capacity issues raised by the surgery are acknowledged and the 

Applicant has responded advising that: 
• The provision of a care home with modern facilities has been proven to 

reduce the impact on local care services. 
• There will be onsite medical services, such as care professionals.  
• Care home residents are located in one place as opposed to on their 

own spread out over a community. This means that where GPs are 
required to visit a care home, they can carry out numerous visits at one 
time.  

 
8.12.3 It is considered that even with onsite care and support services provided at 

the care home, the surgery is likely to see an increase in demand for its 
services arising from the development. However, this would also be the 
case if the site was developed with 40 dwellings, as per the site allocation. 
Ultimately, the infrastructure and service demands arising from the care 
home development would need to be met by the relevant providers.    

 
 
9.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The application relates to a site allocated for housing with care (Use Class 

C3) under Policy WES2 of the DaSA, where some 40 dwellings are to be 
provided, of which 40% are affordable. 

Page 53



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

9.2 The proposal is for a 64-bed care home (Use Class C2), which is not 
“housing with care” and would not provide any affordable housing. As such, 
the proposed development would not comply with the Council’s 
development plan (i.e. it would conflict with Policy WES2 of the DaSA) and 
would undermine the provision of Westfield’s identified housing need. 
However, in this case, the Applicant has demonstrated that there are 
material considerations to justify the determination of the application other 
than in accordance with the development plan.   

 
9.3 The provision of 64 care bedspaces would make a timely and meaningful 

contribution to the district’s C2 registered care bedspace need in the 
immediate future. Moreover, it would deliver the equivalent of some 36 
homes for older people, which would make a meaningful contribution to the 
Council’s housing land supply and accord with the government’s objective of 
“significantly boosting” the supply of homes. In addition to this, and in 
relation to matters such as accessibility, impact on the character and 
appearance of the area, impact on biodiversity, highway & transport impacts 
etc. the use of conditions and a planning obligation would make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. 

 
9.4 There would be a loss of money raised through the Community Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL) and no New Homes Bonus. With regard to the loss of CIL money, 
this is somewhat counterbalanced by the additional CIL liable on other 
development sites in the district where the percentage of affordable housing 
has been reduced on viability grounds (where a higher proportion of market 
housing is achieved, a consequence is that, the Local Planning Authority 
gains more CIL).   

 
9.5 On this occasion other considerations indicate the decision should be taken 

otherwise than in accordance with the development plan and therefore it is 
recommended that planning permission is granted. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  It be RESOLVED to GRANT (PLANNING PERMISSION) 
DELEGATED SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AND THE COMPLETION OF A 
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT TO SECURE: 
• PROVISION OF OFF-SITE HIGHWAY WORKS AS REQUIRED BY EAST 

SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY 
• FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS AS REQUIRED BY EAST SUSSEX COUNTY 

COUNCIL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY 
 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission.  
Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004). 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved drawings: 
Drawing No. 4548-WRD-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0080 (Existing Site Plan and Location 
Plan), Revision P01, dated 03/11/20. 

Page 54



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

Drawing No. 4548-VST-XX-00-DR-A-0200 (Proposed GA Ground Floor Plan 
Level 00), Revision P08, dated 29.06.23. 
Drawing No. 4548-VST-XX-01-DR-A-0201 (Proposed GA First Floor Plan 
Level 01), Revision P08, dated 29.06.23.    
Drawing No. 4548-VST-XX-RF-DR-A-0203 (Proposed GA roof Plan), Revision 
P05, dated 02.06.23.  
Drawing No. 4548-VST-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0300 (Proposed GA Elevations Sheet 1 
of 3), Revision P013, dated 02.02.24. 
Drawing No. 4548-VST-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0301 (Proposed GA Elevations Sheet 2 
of 3), Revision P013, dated 02.02.24. 
Drawing No. 4548-VST-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0302 (Proposed GA Elevations Sheet 3 
of 3), Revision P012, dated 02.02.24.  
Drawing No. 4548-VST-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0500 (Proposed Site Plan), Revision 
P015, dated 19.07.23. 

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. No development hereby permitted shall commence until a scheme for the 

provision of foul water drainage works has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water, 
and the foul water drainage works to serve the development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure the 
satisfactory drainage of the site, including to avoid flood risk and to prevent 
water pollution, in accordance with Policies SRM2 (i & ii) and EN7 of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
4. No development hereby permitted shall commence until details of a surface 

water drainage system have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water and the Lead 
Local Flood Authority. The surface water drainage system shall incorporate 
the following:  
a) Surface water discharge rates should not exceed greenfield runoff rates 

for all rainfall events, including those with 1 in 100 (+40% for climate 
change) annual probability of occurrence. Evidence of this (in the form of 
hydraulic calculations) should be submitted with the detailed drainage 
drawings. The hydraulic calculations should take into account the 
connectivity of the different surface water drainage features. 

b) The details of the outfall of the proposed drainage system and how it 
connects into the public sewer network should be provided as part of the 
detailed design. This should include cross sections and invert levels.  

c) The detailed design should include information on how surface water 
flows exceeding the capacity of the surface water drainage features will 
be managed safely.  

d) A maintenance and management plan for the entire drainage system, 
which ensures the designed system takes into account design standards 
of those responsible for maintenance. The management plan shall cover 
the following:  
- Clearly state who will be responsible for managing all aspects of the 

surface water drainage system, including piped drains. 
- Evidence that these responsibility arrangements will remain in place 

throughout the lifetime of the development.  
The development shall not be occupied until evidence (including photographs) 
demonstrating that the surface water drainage system has been constructed 
in accordance with the approved details, has been submitted to and approved 

Page 55



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved maintenance and 
management plan for the entire surface water drainage system shall remain in 
place for the lifetime of the development.  
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure the 
satisfactory drainage of the site, including to avoid flood risk and to prevent 
water pollution, in accordance with Policies SRM2 (i, ii & iii) & EN7 (iii) of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policy DEN5 of the Development and 
Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
5. No development hereby permitted shall take place (including any ground 

works or works of demolition) until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the approved CMP shall be implemented and adhered to 
in full throughout the entire construction period. The CMP shall provide details 
as appropriate but not be restricted to the following matters:  
a) The anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during 

construction. 
b) The method of access and egress and routeing of vehicles during 

construction. 
c) The parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors. 
d) The loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste to minimise 

noise and dust impacts. 
e) The storage of plant and materials used in construction of the 

development. 
f) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding. 
g) The provision and utilisation of wheel washing facilities and other works 

required to mitigate the impact of construction upon the public highway 
(including the provision of temporary Traffic Regulation Orders). 

h) The site lighting scheme and control of light spill to existing residential 
areas. 

i) General noise and dust control measures.  
j) Measures to manage flood risk, both on and off the site, during the 

construction phase.  
k) Details of public engagement both prior to and during construction works. 
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required in the interests of 
highway safety, to safeguard the amenities of nearby residents, and to avoid 
flood risk, in accordance with Policies OSS4 (ii), CO6 (ii) and EN7 of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy, Policy DEN7 of the Development and Site 
Allocations Local Plan and Paragraph 191 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
6. No development hereby permitted shall take place until a scheme to deal with 

the risks associated with contamination of the site in respect of the approved 
development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme to be approved in writing shall include: 
a) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

- all previous uses. 
- potential contaminants associated with those uses. 
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and 

receptors. 
- potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

b) A site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for a 
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off-site.  

Page 56



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

c) The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment 
referred to in (b) and, based on these, an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken.  

d) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in 
order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in 
(c) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term 
monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action. 

Any changes to these components require the written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to protect the health of 
future occupiers of the site from any possible effects of contaminated land and 
to ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution, in accordance with Policy OSS3 (viii) of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy, Policy DEN7 of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan 
and Paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
7. No development hereby permitted shall take place until the Applicant has 

secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological works in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the 
archaeological and historical interest of the site is safeguarded and recorded 
to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework and in accordance 
with Policy EN2 (vi) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
8. No development hereby permitted shall take place until an Air Quality 

Assessment for the development – carried out by a competent person – has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The assessment shall include the following details: 
a) The impact of the development on the air quality objectives described in 

the National Air Quality Strategy with respect to nitrogen dioxide, PM10 
and PM2.5 particulates. 

b) For the construction phase, an assessment should be undertaken of the 
potential for dust nuisance, using the Institute of Air Quality Management 
(IAQM) ‘Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and 
Construction’. 

c) For a quantitative assessment of the operational phase, detailed 
dispersion modelling using industry standard software, such as 
ADMSRoads, to determine the impact of the development on existing air 
quality is required. This should include assessment of the cumulative 
impacts from the development itself and other committed developments 
in the vicinity, on existing air quality. 

d) Where possible, verification of the model output should be made through 
a comparison of the results of any publicly available monitoring data in 
the study area. To inform the background concentrations used within the 
model, the results of local monitoring and the available Defra maps 
should be used. Reductions in background concentrations and emissions 
in future years should not be used, to reflect the findings of recent 
research. 

e) The significance of impact should be described with reference to the 
EPUK/IAQM Land-Use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air 

Page 57



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

Quality (January 2017) document, and the ‘Air quality and emissions 
mitigation guidance for Sussex (2021)’. 

f) Any mitigation measures deemed necessary to alleviate the effects of 
nitrogen dioxide, PM10 and PM2.5 particulates arising from the 
development. 

If mitigation measures are specified in the approved Air Quality Assessment 
for the development hereby permitted, then these shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the care 
home.  
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to protect the air 
quality in the area having regard to ‘Air Quality and Emissions Mitigation 
Guidance for Sussex (2021)’ and Policy OSS3 (viii) of the Rother Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
9. Prior to the commencement of development on site, detailed drawings, 

including levels, sections and constructional details of the proposed roads, 
surface water drainage, outfall disposal and street lighting to be provided, 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and be subject to its 
approval, in consultation with East Sussex County Council Highway Authority.  
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required in the interests of 
highway safety and for the benefit and convenience of the public at large, in 
accordance with Policies CO6 (ii), TR2 and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
10. No development hereby permitted shall take place (including any demolition, 

ground works, site clearance) until a method statement for the rescue and 
translocation of reptiles, to include details of a receptor site(s) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
content of the method statement shall include the:  
a) purpose and objectives for the proposed works;  
b) detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated 

objectives (including, where relevant, type and source of materials to be 
used); 

c) extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale maps 
and plans; 

d) timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with 
the proposed phasing of construction; 

e) persons responsible for implementing the works;  
f) initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant); 
g) disposal of any wastes arising from the works.  
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to protect habitats and 
species identified in the ecological surveys from adverse impacts during 
construction, in accordance with paragraphs 180 and 186 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policy EN5 (ix) of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy and Policy DEN4 (ii) of the Development and Site Allocations Local 
Plan, and to avoid an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as 
amended. 

 
11. No development hereby permitted shall take place until an Ecological Design 

Strategy (EDS) addressing mitigation and compensation for the loss of 
habitats and enhancement of the site to provide measurable biodiversity net 
gain, aiming for a minimum 10% with trading rules met, has been submitted to 

Page 58



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The EDS shall 
include the following:  
a) purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works; 
b) review of site potential and constraints;  
c) detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives; 
d) extent and location /area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps 

and plans; 
e) type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native 

species of local provenance; 
f) timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with 

the proposed phasing of development; 
g) persons responsible for implementing the works; 
h) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance;  
i) details for monitoring and remedial measures;  
j) details for disposal of any wastes arising from works.  
The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and 
all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that any 
adverse environmental impacts of development activities can be mitigated, 
compensated and restored and that the proposed design, specification and 
implementation can demonstrate this, and to provide a net gain for 
biodiversity, as required by Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006, Paragraphs 180 and 186 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Policy EN5 (viii & ix) of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy and Policy DEN4 (ii & iii) of the Development and Site Allocations 
Local Plan. 

 
12. No development hereby permitted shall take place until a Lighting 

Design/Mitigation Strategy to limit the impact of light pollution from artificial 
light on the amenities of neighbouring residential properties, the High Weald 
National Landscape and biodiversity has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall relate to both 
internal and external lighting at the site and be prepared by a competent 
person having regard to the institute of Lighting Professionals guidance notes 
on The Reduction of Obtrusive Light and Bats and Artificial Lighting At Night. 
It shall provide details as appropriate but not be restricted to the following 
matters: 
a) Identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for 

bats and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding 
sites and resting places or along important routes used to access key 
areas of their territory, for example, for foraging. 

b) Identify the neighbouring residential properties that are likely to be 
impacted by artificial light from the site.   

c) Provide appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications 
etc. so that it can be clearly demonstrated that the internal and external 
lighting will not: 

- Disturb or prevent the bats using their territory or having access to 
their breeding sites and resting places. 

- Adversely impact the living conditions of the residents of the 
neighbouring residential properties.  

The Lighting Design/Mitigation Strategy shall be implemented as approved 
and maintained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. The approved 
Lighting Design/Mitigation Strategy shall not be altered, and no new lighting 
installed, without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.  

Page 59



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to limit the impact of 
light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, the High Weald National 
Landscape and biodiversity, in accordance with Policy DEN7 (ii) of the 
Development and Site Allocations Local Plan and Paragraph 191 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13. All ecological measures and/or works related to precautionary measures for 

bats and badgers shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained 
in the following documents: 
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Project No: B21091), prepared by The 

Landscape Partnership Ltd and dated 7th March 2024.  
• Badger Survey Report (Project No: B21091), prepared by The 

Landscape Partnership Ltd and dated 9th December 2021. 
Reason: To ensure that the measures considered necessary as part of the 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Badger Survey Report are carried out as 
specified, as required by Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006, Paragraphs 180 and 186 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Policy EN5 (ix) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
Policy DEN4 (ii) of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
14. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

tree protection measures detailed in the Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement Rev B – February 2024, 
prepared by The Landscape Partnership Ltd. 
Reason: To ensure that the measures considered necessary as part of the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment are carried out as specified, and in the 
interests of limiting the impact of the development on the High Weald National 
Landscape and biodiversity, in accordance with Paragraphs 180, 182 and 186 
of the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies OSS4 (iii), EN1 (i) & EN5 
(ix) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policies DEN1, DEN2 & DEN4 
(ii) of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
15. If the development hereby permitted does not commence by 31st October 

2024, or having commenced by this date is suspended for more than 12 
months, the approved ecological measures relating to reptiles and bats shall 
be reviewed and, where necessary, amended and updated. The review shall 
be informed by an updated Reptile and Bat Report commissioned to i) 
establish if there have been any changes in the presence and/or abundance 
of reptiles and bats and ii) identify any likely new ecological impacts that might 
arise from any changes. Where the survey results indicate that changes have 
occurred that will result in ecological impacts not previously addressed, the 
approved ecological measures shall be revised and new or amended 
measures, and a timetable for their implementation, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement/re-commencement of development. Works shall then be 
carried out in accordance with the new approved ecological measures and 
timetable. 
Reason: As species are mobile and habitats can change and become more or 
less suitable, it is important that the surveys reflect the situation at the time on 
any given impact occurring to ensure adequate mitigation and compensation 
can be put in place and to ensure no offences are committed, in accordance 
with Paragraphs 180 and 186 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Policy EN5 (ix) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policy DEN4 (ii) of 
the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

Page 60



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

16. No works which include the creation of trenches or culverts or the presence of 
pipes shall commence until measures to protect badgers from being trapped 
in open excavations and/or pipe and culverts are submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The measures may include:  
a) creation of sloping escape ramps for badgers, which may be achieved by 

edge profiling of trenches/excavations or by using plans placed into them 
at the end of each working day; and 

b) open pipeworks greater than 150 mm outside diameter being blanked off 
at the end of each working day. 

Reason: To ensure badgers are not trapped or harmed on site, to avoid an 
offence under the Protection of Badgers Act 1992, and to prevent delays to 
site operation. 

 
17. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 

present at the site, then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a 
remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.  
Reason: To protect the health of future occupiers of the site from any possible 
effects of contaminated land and to ensure that the development does not 
contribute to and is not put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously unidentified 
contamination sources at the development site, in accordance with Policy 
OSS3 (viii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy, Policy DEN7 of the 
Development and Site allocations Local Plan and Paragraph 189 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18. During the construction phase of the development hereby permitted, no works 

or deliveries shall take place other than within the hours: Monday to Friday 
08:00 to 18:00 hours, Saturday 08:00 to 13:00 and not at all on Sundays, 
Public or Bank Holidays. 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of nearby residents from disturbance 
during the construction phase of the development, in accordance with Policy 
OSS4 (ii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy, Policy DEN7 of the 
Development and Site Allocations Local Plan and Paragraph 191 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
19. No development above slab level shall commence until the following details 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and the development shall thereafter be completed in accordance 
with the approved details:  
a) details/samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the 

external surfaces of the care home building. 
b) Drawings to a scale of 1:10 fully detailing proposed windows & doors 

(including their interface with the adjoining wall), roof verges, roof eaves 
and balustrades.  

c) The finished ground floor level of the care home building in relation to 
existing and proposed site levels, the adjacent highway (Main Road) and 
adjacent properties, together with details of levels of all accesses, to 
include pathways, driveways, steps and ramps.  

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory building appearance and development of 
the site and to maintain the landscape and scenic beauty of the High Weald 
National Landscape, in accordance with Paragraphs 135, 180 and 182 of the 

Page 61



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

National Planning Policy Framework, Policies OSS4 (iii), EN1 (i) & EN3 the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policies DEN1 & DEN2 of the 
Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
20. No development above slab level shall take place until full details of the hard 

and soft landscape proposals for the site, including timetable for 
implementation, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These details shall include: 
a) For hard landscaping: 

- The means of enclosure of the site generally; 
- The materials proposed for hard-surfacing; 
- Details of all minor structures proposed in the public and communal 

garden areas (including garden outbuildings, external shelters, 
pergolas, refuse, cycle or other storage units, ASHP compound).  

b) For soft landscaping:      
- Detailed planting plans, supported by written material as necessary, 

setting out the mix of species, their size, number and planting 
densities as appropriate (the plants should be native species and of 
local provenance);  

- The detail of all new trees, including their species, sizes, quantity, 
positions, the time of planting and how they will be protected and 
maintained until successfully established in accordance with 
BS5837:2012 “Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 
Construction – Recommendations” (the trees should be native 
species and of local provenance).  

- Details of the measures to be employed to ensure the successful 
establishment of all planting, including new trees, and its 
maintenance into the future for a period of five years from the date 
of the planting being undertaken shall also be provided. Regard 
shall be had to the measures suggested in BS 8545:2014 “Trees: 
From Nursery to Independence in the Landscape – 
Recommendations”. 

All hard and soft landscaping works shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the approved landscaping works. Any trees or plants that, within a period of 
five years after planting, are removed, die or are seriously damaged shall be 
replaced by others of the same species, size and number as originally 
proposed, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure a high-quality public realm, maintain the landscape and 
scenic beauty of the High Weald National Landscape and enhance 
biodiversity, in accordance with Paragraphs 180 and 182 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policies OSS4 (iii), EN1 (i), EN3 & EN5 (ix) of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policies DEN1, DEN2 & DEN4 (iii) of the 
Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

   
21. A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation 
of the development hereby permitted. The content of the LEMP shall include 
the following: 
a) description and evaluation of features to be managed; 
b) ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence 

management; 
c) aims and objectives of management;  
d) appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives; 

Page 62



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

e) prescriptions for management actions, together with a plan of 
management compartments; 

f) preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of 
being rolled forward over a five-year period; 

g) details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the 
plan; and 

h) ongoing monitoring and remedial measures. 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by 
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the 
developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The 
plans shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how 
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and 
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning 
biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: Biological communities are constantly changing and require positive 
management to maintain their conservation value. The implementation of a 
LEMP will ensure the long-term management of habitats, species and other 
biodiversity features and the targeted condition of habitats required to deliver 
a net gain in biodiversity, in accordance with Paragraphs 180 and 186 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Policy EN5 (viii & ix) of the Rother Local 
Plan Core Strategy and Policy DEN4 (ii & iii) of the Development and Site 
Allocations Local Plan. 

 
22. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the new 

vehicular access serving the development has been constructed in 
accordance with approved Drawing No. 4548-VST-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0500 
(Proposed Site Plan), Revision P015, and as amended as part of the s278 
agreement and detailed design.  
Reason: To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving 
the access and proceeding along the highway, in accordance with Policies 
CO6 (ii) and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
23. The new vehicular access shall not be used until visibility splays measuring 

2.4m x 104.4m to the north and 2.4m x 119m to the south of the access are 
provided and maintained thereafter.  
Reason: To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving 
the access and proceeding along the highway, in accordance with Policies 
CO6 (ii) and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
24. The new estate roads shall be designed and constructed to a standard 

approved by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with East Sussex 
County Council Highway Authority's standards with a view to their subsequent 
adoption as a publicly maintained highway.  
Reason: in the interests of highway safety and for the benefit and 
convenience of the public at large, in accordance with Policies CO6 (ii), TR2 
and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
25. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until motor vehicle 

parking areas have been provided in accordance with the approved drawings 
or details which have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority in consultation with East Sussex County Council Highway 

Page 63



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

Authority, and the areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall not 
be used other than for the parking of motor vehicles.  
Reason: To ensure there is adequate parking provision and to ensure the 
safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the access and 
proceeding along the highway, in accordance with Policies CO6 (ii), TR3 and 
TR4 (i & iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
26. The motor vehicle parking spaces shall measure at least 2.5m by 5m (add an 

extra 50cm where spaces abut walls/fences).  
Reason: To provide adequate space for the parking of motor vehicles and to 
ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the access 
and proceeding along the highway, in accordance with Policies CO6 (ii), TR3 
and TR4 (i & iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
27. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until cycle parking 

areas have been provided in accordance with details which have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with East Sussex County Council Highway Authority, and the 
areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall not be used other than 
for the parking of cycles.  
Reason: In order that the development site is accessible by non-car modes 
and to meet the objectives of sustainable development, in accordance with 
Policies PC1 and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
28. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Travel 

Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with East Sussex County Council Highway Authority. 
The Travel Plan, once approved, shall thereafter be implemented as specified 
within the approved document. The Travel Plan shall be completed in 
accordance with the latest guidance and good practice documentation as 
published by the Department for Transport and/or as advised by the Highway 
Authority. 
Reason: To encourage and promote sustainable transport, in accordance with 
Policies PC1, TR2 and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
29. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until a 

verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the 
approved remediation strategy (relating to any contamination of the site), and 
the effectiveness of the remediation, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall include results of 
sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved 
verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been 
met. 
Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to the health of 
future occupiers of the site and the water environment by demonstrating that 
the requirements of the approved verification plan have been met and that 
remediation of the site is complete, in accordance with Policy OSS3 (viii) of 
the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy, Policy DEN7 of the Development and 
Site Allocations Local Plan and Paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
30. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until 

the archaeological site investigation and post-investigation assessment 
(including provision for analysis, publication and dissemination of results and 

Page 64



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

archive deposition) for that phase has been completed and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The archaeological site investigation 
and post-investigation assessment shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
programme set out in the approved written scheme of investigation.  
Reason: To ensure that the archaeological and historical interest of the site is 
safeguarded and recorded to comply with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and in accordance with Policy EN2 (vi) of the Rother Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
31. No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are 

permitted other than with the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Any proposals for such systems must be supported by an assessment of the 
risks to controlled waters. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not pose any risk to the health 
of future occupiers of the site and does not contribute to and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by unacceptable levels of water 
pollution caused by mobilised contaminants, in accordance with Policy OSS3 
(viii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Paragraph 189 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.    

 
32. Piling and using penetrative methods shall not be carried out other than with 

the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure that piling does not harm groundwater resources, in 
accordance with Policy OSS3 (viii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 
and Paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
33. The rating level (LAr,Tr) of sound emitted from any fixed plant and/or 

machinery associated with the development hereby permitted shall not 
exceed the plant noise rating limits of 45 dB between 07:00 and 17:00, 29 dB 
between 17:00 and 23:00 and 23 dB between 23:00 and 07:00 at any other 
sound-sensitive property as recommended in the Noise Assessment report by 
Hawkins Environmental (report no. H3437 – NV – v1, 11 January 2022). All 
measurements shall be made in accordance with the methodology of BS 
4142:2014+A1:2019 “Method for rating and assessing industrial and 
commercial sound” and/or its subsequent amendments. Where access to the 
worst affected sound-sensitive property is not possible, measurements shall 
be undertaken at an appropriate location and corrected to establish the noise 
levels at the worst affected sound-sensitive property. 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of nearby residents from noise pollution, 
in accordance with Policy OSS4 (ii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy, 
Policy DEN7 of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan and 
Paragraph 191 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
NOTES: 
 
1. This permission is the subject of a planning obligation under Section 106 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
2. The Applicant is reminded that it is an offence to damage or destroy species 

protected under separate legislation. Planning permission for a development 
does not provide a defence against prosecution under European and UK 
wildlife protection legislation. Separate licences and consents may be 

Page 65



pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

required to undertake work on the site where protected species are found, 
and these should be sought before development commences. 

 
3. This planning permission does not authorise any interference with animals, 

birds, marine life, plants, fauna and habitats in contravention of the 
requirements of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000 (CROW) and other legislation. 

 
4. The Applicant is reminded that, under the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended), it is an offence to (amongst other things): deliberately 
capture, disturb, injure or kill great crested newts; damage or destroy a 
breeding or resting place; deliberately obstruct access to a resting or 
sheltering place. Planning approval for a development does not provide a 
defence against prosecution under these acts. Should great crested newts be 
found at any stages of the development works, then all works should cease, 
and Natural England should be contacted for advice. 

 
5. The Applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, 

as amended (section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the 
nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use of being built. Planning consent 
for a development does not provide a defence against prosecution under this 
act. Trees and scrub are likely to contain nesting birds between 01 March and 
31 August inclusive. Trees and scrub are present on the application site and 
are to be assumed to contain nesting birds between the above dates, unless a 
recent survey has been undertaken by a competent ecologist to assess the 
nesting bird activity on site during this period and has shown it is absolutely 
certain that nesting birds are not present. 

 
6. The development will be subject to the requirements of the Building 

Regulations, and advice should be sought from the East Sussex Building 
Control Partnership. No work should be carried out until any necessary 
permission has been obtained. 

 
7. If the Applicant proposes to offer a new on-site drainage and pumping station 

for adoption as part of the foul/surface water public sewerage system, this will 
have to be designed and constructed to the specification of Southern Water 
Services Ltd. A secure compound would be required, to which access for 
large vehicles would need to be possible at all times. The compound will be 
required to be 100 square metres in area, or of some such approved lesser 
area as would provide an operationally satisfactory layout. In order to protect 
the amenity of prospective residents, no habitable rooms shall be located 
within 15 metres to the boundary of the proposed adoptable pumping station, 
due to the potential odour, vibration and noise generated by all types of 
pumping stations. The transfer of land ownership will be required at a later 
stage for adoption. 

 
8. Southern Water requires formal applications for connections to the public foul 

& surface water sewer, and to the water supply, to be made by the Applicant 
or developer. To make an application visit Southern Water's Get Connected 
service: https://developerservices.southernwater.co.uk/ and please read their 
New Connections Charging Arrangements documents which are available on 
their website via the following link: 
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-

Page 66

https://developerservices.southernwater.co.uk/
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements


pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

arrangements. For further advice, please contact Southern Water, Southern 
House, Yeoman Road, Worthing, West Sussex, BN13 3NX (Tel: 0330 303 
0119). Website: http://www.southernwater.co.uk/ or by email at: 
SouthernWaterPlanning@southernwater.co.uk   

 
9. It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the 

development site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction 
works, an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership 
before any further works commence on site. 

 
10. East Sussex County Council Highway Authority’s requirements associated 

with this development proposal will need to be secured through a Section 
(106/184/171/278) Legal Agreement between the Applicant and East Sussex 
County Council. The Applicant is requested to contact the Transport 
Development Control Team (01273 482254) to commence this process. The 
Applicant is advised that it is an offence to undertake any works within the 
highway prior to the agreement being in place. 

 
11. The Environment Agency would like to refer the Applicant to their groundwater 

position statements in ‘The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater 
protection’, available from GOV.UK. This publication sets out their position for 
a wide range of activities and developments, including Land contamination. 

 
12. In relation to land contamination at the development site, please note that the 

Environment Agency only consider issues relating to controlled waters. They 
recommend that developers should:  
• Follow the risk management framework provided in ‘Land Contamination: 

Risk Management’, when dealing with land affected by contamination. 
• Refer to their ‘Guiding principles for land contamination’ for the type of 

information that they require in order to assess risks to controlled waters 
from the site - the Local Authority can advise on risk to other receptors, 
such as human health. 

• Consider using the ‘National Quality Mark Scheme for Land 
Contamination Management’ which involves the use of competent 
persons to ensure that land contamination risks are appropriately 
managed. 

• Refer to the contaminated land pages on gov.uk for more information. 
 
13. The CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice 

(version 2) provides operators with a framework for determining whether or 
not excavated material arising from site during remediation and/or land 
development works is waste or has ceased to be waste. Under the Code of 
Practice: 
• Excavated materials that are recovered via a treatment operation can be 

reused on-site providing they are treated to a standard such that they are 
fit for purpose and unlikely to cause pollution. 

• Treated materials can be transferred between sites as part of a hub and 
cluster project. 

• Some naturally occurring clean material can be transferred directly 
between sites. 

Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately 
characterised both chemically and physically, and that the permitting status of 
any proposed on-site operations are clear. If in doubt, the Environment 
Agency should be contacted for advice at an early stage to avoid any delays. 

Page 67

https://www.southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements
http://www.southernwater.co.uk/
mailto:SouthernWaterPlanning@southernwater.co.uk


pl240418 - RR/2021/3010/P 

The Environment Agency recommends that developers should refer to:    
• The position statement on the Definition of Waste: Development Industry 

Code of Practice. 
• The waste management page on GOV.UK.  

 
14. Contaminated soil that is (or must be) disposed of is waste. Therefore, its 

handling, transport, treatment and disposal are subject to waste management 
legislation, which includes: 
• Duty of Care Regulations 1991. 
• Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005. 
• Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016. 
• The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011.  
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately 
characterised both chemically and physically in line with British Standard BS 
EN 14899:2005 'Characterization of Waste - Sampling of Waste Materials - 
Framework for the Preparation and Application of a Sampling Plan' and that 
the permitting status of any proposed treatment or disposal activity is clear. If 
in doubt, the Environment Agency should be contacted for advice at an early 
stage to avoid any delays. 
If the total quantity of hazardous waste material produced or taken off-site is 
500kg or greater in any 12 month period, the developer will need to register 
with the Environment Agency as a hazardous waste producer. Refer to the 
hazardous waste pages on GOV.UK for more information. 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK: In accordance with Paragraph 38 
of the National Planning Policy Framework, the Local Planning Authority has worked 
in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant by identifying matters of concern 
within the application (as originally submitted) and negotiating acceptable 
amendments to address those concerns. This has enabled the Local Planning 
Authority to grant planning permission subject to conditions for a sustainable 
development.  

Page 68



pl240418 - RR/2023/2630/P 

 

SITE PLAN 
 
RR/2023/2630/P 

ICKLESHAM 
 

Winchelsea Beach Caravan Park 
Pett Level Road  

Winchelsea Beach 
Icklesham 

 
  
 

      

 
  

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



pl240418 - RR/2023/2630/P 

Rother District Council       
 
Report to   -  Planning Committee 
Date    - 18 April 2024 

Report of the  -  Director – Place and Climate Change 
Subject - Application RR/2023/2630/P 
Address - Winchelsea Beach Caravan Park, 

Pett Level Road, 
  ICKLESHAM 
Proposal - Variation of open season condition imposed on C/60/67 to 

extend open season to 11.5 months. 
View application/correspondence  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  It be RESOLVED to GRANT (FULL PLANNING)  
 
 
Director: Ben Hook 
 
 
Applicant:   Sellers Leisure Ltd 
Agent: Mr Mark Southerton 
Case Officer: Miss Katie Edwards 
                                                                     (Email: katie.edwards@rother.gov.uk) 

 
Parish: ICKLESHAM 
Ward Members: Councillors L. Hacking and P.N. Osborne 
   
Reason for Committee consideration:  Called in by Councillor Osborne due to 
concerns with sewage and additional usage of site. 
 
Statutory 8-week date:15 March 2024 
Extension of time agreed to: 25 April 2024 
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY  
 
1.1 The proposal relates to an established caravan park used for holiday 

purposes. It is proposed to allow the caravans to be occupied for holiday 
purposes between the 1 March in any one year to the 14 February the 
following year. This is an increase of 3.5 months on the current period of 
occupancy, bringing it to 11.5 months of the year. This would bring its 
seasonal occupancy period more in line with other caravan parks in the 
district. Concerns have been raised from the Parish Council, with regards to 
drainage, however no concern has been raised by the Environment Agency 
or Rother District Council. Overall, the proposal would have an acceptable 
impact on the environment. As such, planning permission should be granted. 

 
 

Page 70

http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2023/2630/P
mailto:katie.edwards@rother.gov.uk


pl240418 - RR/2023/2630/P 

2.0 SITE 
 
2.1 This application relates to a caravan site hosting 57 static caravans for holiday 

use. The caravan park has been in existence since the 1960’s. 
 
2.2 The site is situated to the southern side of Pett Level Road outside of the 

defined development boundary. It is within a Flood Xone 3b, 3a and 2 as well 
as the Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) impact risk zone. 

 
 
3.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 This application seeks permission to vary the occupancy condition imposed 

on C/60/67 in order to extend the occupancy period of the caravans to 11.5 
months a year that being from the 1 March to 14 February the following year. 

 
3.2 The current occupancy condition states that the caravans can only be 

occupied between the 1 March and 31 October yearly. 
 
 
4.0 HISTORY 
 
4.1 C/60/67 (Battle Rural DC application) – APPROVED 

CONDITIONAL 
 
4.2 RR/76/0411 Use of land for stationing of seven additional caravans – 
  APPEAL ALLOWED 
 
 
5.0 POLICIES 
 
5.1 The following policies of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 are 

relevant to the proposal: 
• OSS4: General Development Considerations 
• EN1:  Landscape Stewardship 
• EN3: Design Quality 
• EN5: Biodiversity and Green Space 
• EN6: Flood Risk Management  
• EN7: Flood Risk and Development 
• EC6: Tourism Activities and Facilities  
• RA2: General Strategy for the Countryside 
• RA3: Development in the Countryside 

 
5.2 The following policies of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan are 

relevant to the proposal: 
• DEC2: Holiday Sites 
• DEN5: Sustainable Drainage 

 
5.3 The National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance are 

also material considerations. 
 
 
 

Page 71

http://www.rother.gov.uk/CoreStrategy
http://www.rother.gov.uk/dasa


pl240418 - RR/2023/2630/P 

6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1 Environment Agency – NO OBJECTION  
 
6.1.1 No objection providing that the Local Planning Authority is fully satisfied that 

the development is for short-term holiday use and not permanent or long-term 
residential use. consideration should be given to the following issues: 
• Adequacy of rescue or evacuation arrangements. 
• Details and adequacy of an emergency plan. 
• Provision of and adequacy of a temporary refuge. 

 
6.2 Environmental Health – NO OBJECTION  
 
6.2.1 “No adverse comments. There is a site licence currently in place, please 

advise this Department if this application is granted so the licence may be 
amended”. 

 
6.3 Planning Notice 
 
6.3.1 One letter of OBJECTION has been received. The concerns raised are 

summarised as follows: 
• Longer season allows owners to charge higher fees. 
• Rother District Council want longer seasons to support tourism. 
• Caravan owners want longer seasons to use caravan as main residence. 
• Caravans are small and old; it is doubtful they are suited for occupancy 

over winter and seem vulnerable to winter storms. 
 
6.4 Icklesham Parish Council – OBJECTION  
 
6.4.1 The concerns raised are summarised as follows: 

• There is no need for the extra opening hours. 
• Would result in overdevelopment of local area. 
• Site is currently on cesspits and would increase the amount of tankers 

in the area which will cause further damage to the roads and local 
infrastructure. 

• The flood risk assessment makes assertions without providing evidence. 
 
 
7.0 APPRAISAL 
 
7.1  Issues for Consideration  
 
7.1.1  The main issues are:  

• Principle of Development 
• Flood risk 
• Sewage 
• Ecology 
• Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
• Impact on the living conditions of neighbours  

 
7.2 Principle of development / Policy Context 
 

Page 72



pl240418 - RR/2023/2630/P 

7.2.1 Policy EC6 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy offers support for tourism 
related development, seeking to retain it and also increase supply. 

 
7.2.2 The proposal relates to a long-established caravan site. The extension of the 

occupancy period would enable more tourism to the district whilst still 
ensuring that the use is for no more than 11.5 months.  This would assist 
along with the other restrictive conditions in maintaining that the site would 
only be used for holiday purposes. A full unfettered residential use would 
require other policy considerations to be applied, in particular with regard to 
internal and external space standards, and the creation of dwellings outside 
a defined development boundary. 

 
7.2.3 Previous occupancy planning applications on local sites include the following: 

• RR/2023/1434/P - Sea Spray Caravan Site, Dogs Hill Road, Winchelsea 
Beach, Icklesham: 1 March to 14 January – Approved Conditional. 

• RR/2022/2977/P - Pett Level Caravan Park, Pett Level Road, Pett: 1 
March to 14 February – Approved Conditional. 

• RR/2021/1369/P - Windmill Park Caravan Site, Willow Lane, Icklesham: 
1 March to 14 February – Approved Conditional. 

• RR/2019/1442/P - Smugglers End Caravan Park, Pett Level Road, 
Icklesham: 1 March to 14 January – Approved Conditional. 

• RR/2019/34/P - Winchelsea Sands Holiday Park, Pett Level Road, 
Winchelsea Beach, Icklesham: 1 March to 14 February – Approved 
Conditional. 

  
7.2.4 The new seasonal occupancy period would be the same or similar to the 

occupancy period of numerous other caravan sites in both the local area and 
the wider district. In the absence of any justified reason for refusal, it would 
be difficult to argue that this particular site would not be acceptable for the 
same variation of condition application. 

 
7.3 Flood Risk  
 
7.3.1 Seasonal occupancy conditions are imposed on caravans to ensure that 

tourism accommodation remains as such but also to prevent use of 
accommodation at unsuitable times such as when there is a high risk of 
flooding, i.e. in the winter. 

 
7.3.2 The National Planning Policy Framework and Policy EN7 of the Rother Local 

Plan Core Strategy seek to avoid inappropriate development in areas at risk 
of flooding.  

 
7.3.3 The site is within Flood Zone 3a and b which is defined as having a high 

probability of flooding from the sea. The Environment Agency has been 
consulted on the application and have raised no objection provided the 
caravans are not occupied as a permanent place of residence and that there 
are evacuation plans in place. These requirements can be secured by 
planning conditions.  

 
7.3.4 The Agent has provided a flood risk assessment and supporting statement. 

Whilst the site is within a Flood Zone 3a and b, this does not factor in the 
presence of sea defences. The Applicant has signed up to the Flood Line 
Alert System and has adopted an evacuation protocol which can be 
conditioned to be followed should approval be granted. The additional use of 

Page 73



pl240418 - RR/2023/2630/P 

the site will not impact on surface water generation as the same number of 
caravans will remain in situ irrespective of the length of the open season. As 
such flood risk does not result in a reason for refusal. 

 
7.4 Sewage 
 
7.4.1 The foul public sewage system in Winchealsea Beach has experienced 

problems with overloading particularly during wet weather. The caravan site 
subject to this planning application is not connected to the public sewer, it has 
its own cesspool. The Agent has stated that the owner cannot gain access to 
the public sewer due to the distance from the site and land ownership issues. 
As such the application would have no effect on the public sewer. 

 
7.4.2 The main impact with the proposal would be any potential increase in the 

number of times the cesspool needs to be emptied and any increase in tanker 
movements associated with this. The Applicants statement sets out the 
estimated increase in usage. It is stated that the occupancy levels would be 
extremely unlikely to be the same year-round such when compared to the 
summer months. The national statistics submitted show a much lower rate of 
occupancy during November – February (11% - 22%).  

 
7.4.3 The emptying regime would be adjusted to reflect the likely increase in visitor 

numbers and the cesspool is fitted with an alarm to prevent any accidental 
discharge from overflowing. In terms of maintenance, the cesspit is regulated 
by the Environment Agency with a requirement to keep the cesspit in good 
repair and ensure that it doesn’t leak or overflow. The cesspit has to be 
emptied by a registered waste handler and should the cesspit not be 
maintained to the required standard, the Environment Agency can require 
replacement or repair. 

 
7.4.4 It is considered that the proposal would result in a modest increase in 

wastewater generated on site so a minimal increase in tanker movements. 
The Applicant has outlined how measures are in place to prevent any leaking 
and to maintain a good functional cesspit. As such it is not considered that 
the increase in occupancy would harm the local area in terms of sewage 
impacts and this would not justify a reason for refusal. 

 
7.5 Ecology 
 
7.5.1 The Caravan Park is within an SSSI impact risk zone, meaning care must be 

taken to protect the area. The increase to the season would not harm the 
ecology of the site, as the caravans are already in-situ, and no additional 
caravans are proposed.  

 
7.6 Character and appearance 
 
7.6.1 The increase to the season would not change nor detract from the character 

and appearance of the area as the caravans are already in-situ, and no 
additional caravans are proposed. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



pl240418 - RR/2023/2630/P 

7.7 Neighbour amenity 
 
7.7.1 There would be very minimal if any impact on neighbouring amenity due to 

no physical changes to the site and winter occupancy is likely to be lower than 
in the busy summer period. 

 
 
8.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 It is recognised that tourism contributes significantly to the local economy. 

National and local policies support tourism activities and facilities across the 
district provided they are compatible with other policies especially those that 
protect environmental character, amenities, biodiversity, and flooding.  

 
8.2 The proposal relates to an established caravan site used for holiday purposes 

and would bring its seasonal occupancy period in line with other caravan sites 
locally and in the wider district. The proposal would not result in an increased 
risk of surface water flooding and the Applicant has demonstrated that there 
would not be any risks in relation to sewerage. Subject to conditions restricting 
occupancy – required to prevent the loss of tourist accommodation and 
prevent an unacceptable risk to life in the event of a flood – conditional 
planning permission is recommended. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT (FULL PLANNING) 
 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 
Condition as amended under RR/76/0411 
1. The total number of caravans stationed on the site shall at no time exceed 57. 

Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the locality and to 
control occupancy in the interest of the amenities of the site, in accordance with 
Policies OSS4 and EN1 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 and 
Policies DEN1 and DEC2 of the Development and Site allocations Local Plan. 

 
Varied Condition: 
2. The caravans on the site shall not be occupied except during the period 1 March 

in any one year to the 14 February the following year. 
Reason: To ensure that the caravans are not used for unauthorised permanent 
residential occupation, which would result in the loss of tourist accommodation 
and would present an unacceptable risk to life in the event of a flood in 
accordance with Policy EC6 (vi) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
Policy DEC2 of the Development and Site allocations Local Plan. 

 
New Conditions: 
3. The caravans are to be occupied for holiday purposes only and shall not be 

occupied as a person's sole or main place of residence. 
Reason: To ensure that the approved holiday accommodation is not used for 
unauthorised permanent residential occupation in accordance with Policies 
OSS4 (iii) EC6 and RA3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
4. The owners/operators shall maintain an up-to-date register of the names of all 

owners and/or occupiers of individual caravans on the site, and of their main 
Page 75



pl240418 - RR/2023/2630/P 

home addresses, and shall make this information available at all reasonable 
times to the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:  To ensure that the approved holiday accommodation is not used for 
unauthorised permanent residential occupation in accordance with Policies 
OSS4 (iii) EC6 and RA3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
5. The development hereby approved shall be implemented strictly in accordance 

with the flood warning and evacuation plan stated in Appendix 1 of the Flood 
Risk Assessment (dated 14 December 2023) by Mark Southerton, as already 
submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle with the Local 
Planning Authority prior to determination.   
Reason: To ensure the safety of the occupants of the holiday caravans if 
flooding occurs, as it is located within a Flood Zone and in line with paragraph 
167 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies EN6 and EN7 of 
the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
NOTE: 
 
1. The Applicant is advised that a new caravan site licence may be required. 

Please contact Rother District Council Licensing by e-mail 
licensing@rother.gov.uk or by phone 01424 787550 regarding this matter. 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK:  In accordance with paragraph 38 
of the National Planning Policy Framework the Council has worked in a positive and 
pro-active way and has imposed planning conditions to enable the grant of planning 
permission. 
 

Page 76

mailto:licensing@rother.gov.uk


pl240418 - RR/2024/402/L 

 

SITE PLAN 
 
RR/2024/402/L 

BEXHILL 
 

Town Hall 
London Road  

Bexhill 
 

  
 
 
 
 
     

 

 
  

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



pl240418 - RR/2024/402/L 

Rother District Council       
 
Report to   -  Planning Committee 
Date    - 18 April 2024  

Report of the  -  Director – Place and Climate Change 
Subject - Application RR/2024/402/L 
Address - Town Hall, London Road, Bexhill, TN39 3JX 
Proposal - Removal of existing lath and plaster ceiling to Committee 

Room and replace with new Savolit board and lime hair 
plaster. Make good and replace cornice like for like. 

View application/correspondence 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  It be RESOLVED to GRANT (LISTED BUILDING CONSENT) 
 
 
Director: Ben Hook 
 
 
Applicant:   Rother District Council Estates  
Agent: DGC Consultants 
Case Officer: Miss I. Wilson 
                                                                            (Email: Isla.Wilson@rother.gov.uk) 
 
Parish: BEXHILL CENTRAL  
Ward Members: Councillors C.A. Bayliss and R.A. McCourt  
  
Reason for Committee consideration:  Site owned by Rother District Council 
 
Statutory 8-week date: 29 April 2024 
Extension of time agreed to: N/A 
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY  
 
1.1 The application seeks Listed Building Consent for the removal of existing lath 

and plaster ceiling to the Committee Room and replace with new Savolit board 
and lime hair plaster. Make good and replace cornice like for like. 

 
1.2 The view is taken that the proposal would have a negligible impact upon the 

Listed Building. Having regard to Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, it is considered that the proposed works, 
by virtue of materiality, design and appearance would not cause detriment to 
the setting and special architectural and historic character and interest of the 
listed building as a designated heritage asset, and as such would comply with 
Policy EN2 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and paragraphs 135, 205 
and 206 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023). 

 
 
 

Page 78

https://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2024/402/L&from=planningSearch
mailto:Isla.Wilson@rother.gov.uk


pl240418 - RR/2024/402/L 

2.0 SITE 
 
2.1 Bexhill Town Hall is a Grade II Listed example of a smaller town hall, dating 

to the late 19th century, which was extended in the early 20th century and 
late 20th century. It is not within a conservation area but is within the setting 
of the Bexhill Town Centre Conservation Area and is nearby to The Lane 
Memorial (Listed Grade II).  

 
2.2 Bexhill Town Hall was statutory listed under Grade II in 2022. The principal 

reasons for listing were due to architectural interest including, the use of 
Jacobean freestyle architecture, the cohesive quality of its 1907 extension in 
relation to the original 1884 building, the plan form and interior including 
fixtures and fittings of key civil spaces, and indeed for the building’s historic 
interest relating to the newly established urban conurbation of the late 19th 
century. 

 
2.3 It is also noted that the original building and subsequent extension in 1907 

were designed by Henry Ward. Ward’s other notable works include Hastings 
Town Hall, the now known as ‘His Place Church’ in Hastings and the 1927 
Debenhams building in Hastings. Ward adopted an alternative architectural 
style for Bexhill developments that also included St Stephens Church and St 
Andrews Church, which concentrated on the use of red brick with sandstone 
detailing which is still a legible materiality in the town. 

 
2.4 The site is located within the Bexhill Development Boundary (Development 

and Site Allocations Local Plan). 
 
 
3.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 This application relates specifically to the Committee Room within the first 

floor of the Town Hall. 
 
3.2 Following a partial collapse of the ceiling within the Committee Room, it was 

agreed that one bay of the ceiling was to be removed to inform upon the 
reason of failure and the proposed repair strategy. It is noted that no previous 
signs of failure were evident, prior to the incident. 

 
3.3 It is proposed to replace the existing defective ceiling. It is proposed to remove 

the existing lath and plaster ceiling and retain where possible the existing 
mouldings, cornices and pilasters making good as necessary, where they can 
be preserved. Like for like replacements will also be used where necessary. 
It is then proposed to supply and install a new Savolit board with lime hair 
plaster to provide a finish that will replicate the existing. Savolit board is a 
wood fibre board that is vapour permeable and compatible with traditional 
finishes such as lath and plaster. As a larger board, it will provide a greater 
resistance to floor spring, but to which a lime mortar can be applied to 
replicate the textured finish of a traditional lime hair plastered ceiling. 

 
3.4 The following reasoning for the proposed installation of the new Savolit board 

and lime hair plaster has been provided, within the submitted details 
(Structural Engineer’s Letter – Dated: 29 February 2024): 

 

Page 79



pl240418 - RR/2024/402/L 

3.4.1 “Because of the ongoing 2nd floor office use, it is my recommendation that a 
more serviceable ceiling should be considered that would be better suited to 
resist dynamic effects. 

 
3.4.2 To preserve the condition of the timbers, it is important that the replacement 

ceiling should be vapour permeable and an appropriate alternative to lath and 
plaster would be to use a woodwool board, such as 15mm Savolit, as a carrier 
for lime plaster finish. The board would need to be secured to the joists using 
stainless steel screw fixings and because of the variation in the original plaster 
thickness, the joists would need to be battened out to address that. 

 
3.4.3 Traditional three coat lath and plaster with an average thickness of 25mm 

would have a typical dry weight of around 0.5KN/m² however, the Committee 
Room ceiling could easily be twice as heavy as that, due to its thickness. By 
comparison, the weight of a Savolit boarded ceiling, with lime plaster finish 
(including battening out) would be of the order of 0.3KN/m², thereby 
significantly reducing the load on the joists.” 

 
3.5 The following notes relate to the proposed works to the ceiling and have been 

provided within the submitted Drawing No. DGC-22404/02 - Proposed Works: 
First Floor Plan: As Proposed – Dated: 01/03/2024: 

 
3.5.1 “N1.01: Prior to the commencement of works, a mould is to be taken of the 

undamaged cornice so that if in the event that a section disengages and falls 
it can be replicated exactly like for like and the new section inserted and joins 
made good with lime hair putty / NHL cream grout or similar and approved. 

 
3.5.2 N1.04: Existing wall panelling to be protected temporarily for the duration of 

the works to prevent damage or mortar splashes. 
 
3.5.3 N1.05: Existing decorative fire surround to be protected temporarily for the 

duration of the works to prevent damage or mortar splashes. 
 
3.5.4 N1.06: Existing decorative door surround to be protected temporarily for the 

duration of the works to prevent damage or mortar splashes. 
 
3.5.5 N1.07: Carefully remove the remaining lath and plaster ceiling following partial 

collapse including all associated fixings. Should it be required to provide 
sound insulation this will be a flexible type contained within the existing floor 
void, type and specification to be conditioned. Supply and fit new battens / 
firings to provide a level surface onto which 15mm Savolit Plus boards are to 
be fixed and finished with two-coat NHL lime hair plaster. NOTE the finished 
ceiling is to match the existing ceiling finish to ensure that the existing cornice 
detail around the perimeter of the room is not adjusted to accommodate the 
replacement ceiling. The existing cornice will be repaired locally as necessary 
using lime hair putty plaster to match existing. 

 
3.5.6 N1.08: Existing decorative down stands to be retained and repaired as 

necessary. If required and in accordance with the structural engineers 
recommendation stainless steel reinforcement to be used to stitch cracks and 
made good with lime hair mortar to match existing.” 

 
3.6 As part of the investigation, the Leaders Room ceiling was also inspected, 

and no evidence of plaster detachment was found. There was one area at the 

Page 80



pl240418 - RR/2024/402/L 

southwest corner of the room where there looks to have been some minor 
water ingress in the past, which has resulted in a small area of the heavy 
lincrusta type paper peeling away. The area was dry at the time of inspection 
and as far as could be determined, the plaster appears to be sound. No works 
are required to the Leader’s Room - the existing ceiling and details are to be 
retained. 

 
3.7 It has been noted on the submitted details that the Member’s Room’s existing 

ceiling is of suspended, metal framed tiles and, above that, appears to be of 
plasterboard and therefore no remedial works are required. 

 
 
4.0 HISTORY 
 
4.1 RR/97/1214/A Internally illuminated poster panel forming integral part of 

a replacement bus shelter – APPROVED CONDITIONAL 
(17.07.97) 

 
4.2 RR/2019/109/P Erection of new lift lobby extension and ramp to the rear of 

the finance building – APPROVED CONDITIONAL 
(14.03.19) 

 
4.3 RR/2019/1928/P Installation of velux windows in roof – APPROVED 

CONDITIONAL (14.10.19) 
 
4.4 RR/2022/1784/P Proposed demolition of existing offices and outbuildings to 

rear of site, construction of new building comprising 
offices, civic and event space, cafe, and creation of new 
access; refurbishment of existing Town Hall, including 
part-removal of later additions; removal of access ramp; 
and associated landscaping and infrastructure works – 
REFUSED (24.10.22) 

 
 
5.0 POLICIES 
 
5.1 The following policies of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 are 

relevant to the proposal: 
• EN2: Stewardship of the Historic Built Environment 
• BX2: Bexhill Town Centre 

 
5.2 Section 16 (2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 confers a statutory duty to local planning authorities when considering 
whether to grant Listed Building Consent, to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the Listed Building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

 
5.3 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 confers a statutory duty to local planning authorities when exercising 
planning functions, to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that area. 

 

Page 81

http://www.rother.gov.uk/CoreStrategy


pl240418 - RR/2024/402/L 

5.4 The National Planning Policy Framework, Section 16 (Conserving and 
Enhancing the Historic Environment) and Planning Practice Guidance are 
also material considerations. 

 
 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1 Planning Notice 
 
6.1.1 No representations received. 
 
6.2 Bexhill-on-Sea Town Council – NO RESPONSE 
 
 
7.0 APPRAISAL 
 
7.1 The main issue for consideration is the impact of the proposal on the special 

architectural and historic interest of the Listed Building. The comments of the 
Council’s conservation consultants are included within this report. 

 
7.2 Impacts upon the special architectural and historic interest of the Listed 

Building. 
 
7.2.1 Policy EN2: ‘Stewardship of the Historic Built Environment’ of the Rother 

Local Plan Core Strategy, states development affecting the historic built 
environment, will be required to:  
“(iii) preserve, and ensure clear legibility of, locally distinctive vernacular 
building forms and their settings, features, fabric and materials, including 
forms specific to historic building typologies.”  

 
7.2.2 Policy BX2: ‘Bexhill Town Centre’ of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy, 

states in part (vi) that the strategy for Bexhill Town Centre is to: 
 “Ensure that development and change respects and, where appropriate, 

enhances the late Victorian/Edwardian character of the Conservation Area”. 
 
7.2.3 Paragraph 205 and 206 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) 

states that:  
• 205. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance. 

• 206. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification. 

7.2.4 The proposed works are for the repair and replacement of defective material 
to the ceiling of the Committee Room, following a partial collapse. The 
investigative works conducted shortly after the partial collapse occurred, note 
that the float coat (a coat of undercoat plaster) was of extreme thickness. 
Although a float coat is intended to provide a level base, in this instance, the 

Page 82



pl240418 - RR/2024/402/L 

amount of plaster used contributed to significant degree of weight upon the 
lathes, increasing the potential of failure. 

 
7.2.5 It is proposed to reuse the decorative materials or provide like for like copies 

where possible to ensure that the characterful feature of the strapwork ceiling 
and the cornicing and pilasters remain legible. The proposed materials and 
methods of repair are all in keeping with the age and significance of the 
building and will create a like for like final finish. 

 
7.2.6 Whilst it is considered that the proposed changes would result in the potential 

replacement of some limited historic fabric, however given this is defective 
and that there was no visual sign of failure preceding the collapse, the 
proposal to replace with a modern material (compatible to the historic fabric 
in terms of breathability and in accordance with BS7913) is supported to 
ensure that the room is safe for persons to enter and will ensure its continued 
use. 

 
7.2.7 The proposed works would preserve the aesthetic value of the building 

internally as there will be no visual change and all mouldings / cornices will 
be replicated like for like. It is considered that there will be no negative impact 
on the aesthetic value of the building. 

 
7.2.8 The proposed method of works will ensure for the longevity of this part of the 

building. To merely restore the ceiling using the same approach could lead to 
another failure and collapse. The use of Savolit board to make up the 
excessive thickness is considered pragmatic, sympathetic and compatible 
with the historic building. 

 
7.2.9 It is noted that the Town Hall is located within the setting of the Bexhill Town 

Centre Conservation Area and is nearby to The Lane Memorial (listed grade 
II). It is considered that as the works are internal to the building, no impact to 
the setting of the heritage assets will be established through this proposal. 

 
7.2.10 The listing description refers to the building’s aesthetic value internally and 

restoration of this is a principal concern. In its current condition the room 
cannot be used due to health and safety concerns. The proposed works will 
ensure that the civic function of the room remains legible. Based upon the 
information provided, there is no cause for objection to the proposed works. 

 
 
8.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 In summary, having regard to Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990, it is considered that the proposed works, by 
virtue of materiality, design, and appearance would not cause detriment to the 
setting and special architectural and historic character and interest of the 
Listed Building as a designated heritage asset, and as such would comply 
with Policies EN2 and BX2 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
paragraphs 135, 205 and 206 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2023). 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT (LISTED BUILDING CONSENT) 
 

Page 83



pl240418 - RR/2024/402/L 

CONDITIONS: 
 
1. The work to which this consent relates shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years beginning with the date on which this consent is granted.  
Reason: In accordance with Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans and details: 
Structural Engineer’s Letter – Dated: 29 February 2024 
Ref: DGC22404 - Design and Access Statement - Date of Issue: 4 February 
2024 
Drawing No. DGC-22404/02 - Proposed Works: First Floor Plan: As Proposed 
– Dated: 01/03/2024 
Drawing No. H6312/01 - GENERAL ARRANGEMENT OF COMMITTEE 
ROOM AND ASSOCIATED AREAS AT TOWN HALL BEXHILL-ON-SEA, 
EAST SUSSEX – Dated: Feb 2024 
Planning Portal Reference: PP-12857258v1 – Location Plan – Date Produced: 
04-Mar-2024 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
3. The materials to be used in the construction of the development hereby 

permitted shall be as described within the application, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To safeguard the historic fabric and the special architectural and 
historic character of the Listed Building in accordance with Policy EN2 of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
4. The process of ‘removal of existing lath and plaster ceiling to Committee Room 

and replace with new Savolit board and lime hair plaster. Make good and 
replace cornice like for like’ of the development hereby permitted shall be as 
described within the application, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is in keeping with the character and/or 
appearance of the existing building and to safeguard the historic fabric and the 
special architectural and historic character of the Listed Building having regard 
to Policy EN2 (i & ii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
5. In the event that unforeseen circumstances prevent the works from being 

carried out as per the approved plans/details. Revised plans and details may 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. Once approved the 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the revised plans/details and 
retained as such thereafter. 
Reason: In the interests of ensuring a timely completion of works and to avoid 
undue risk to the heritage asset having regard to Policy EN2 of the Rother Local 
Plan Core Strategy. 

 
6. Prior to the commencement of works, a mould is to be taken of the undamaged 

cornice so that if in the event that a section disengages and falls it can be 
replicated exactly like for like and the new section inserted, and joins made 
good with lime hair putty / natural hydraulic lime (NHL) cream grout or similar. 
Reason: To avoid undue risk to the heritage asset and to ensure that the 
development is in keeping with the character and/or appearance of the existing 

Page 84



pl240418 - RR/2024/402/L 

building and to safeguard the historic fabric and the special architectural and 
historic character of the Listed Building having regard to Policy EN2 (i & ii) of 
the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
7. As noted on Point N1.07 within Drawing No. DGC-22404/02 - Proposed Works: 

First Floor Plan: As Proposed – Dated: 01/03/2024, should it be required to 
provide sound insulation during the works (flexible type contained within the 
existing floor void), details of the type and specification should be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for approval before works commence. Once 
approved the works shall be carried out in accordance with the details and 
retained as such thereafter. 
Reason: To avoid undue risk to the heritage asset and to ensure that the 
development is in keeping with the character and/or appearance of the existing 
building and to safeguard the historic fabric and the special architectural and 
historic character of the Listed Building having regard to Policy EN2 (i & ii) of 
the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
8. For the entirety of the works, the existing decorative fire surrounds, decorative 

door surrounds and wall panelling is to be temporarily protected to prevent 
damage and mortar splashes. 
Reason: To avoid undue risk to the heritage asset and to safeguard the historic 
fabric and the special architectural and historic character of the Listed Building 
having regard to Policy EN2 (i & ii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 
 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Planning Applications - Index
	7 RR/2023/627/P - 16 Heighton Close, Bexhill
	8 RR/2021/3010/P - Moorhurst Care Home, Main Road, Westfield
	9 RR/2023/2630/P - Winchelsea Beach Caravan Park, Pett Level Road, Icklesham
	10 RR/2024/402/L - Town Hall, London Road, Bexhill

